
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Health & Care 
Partnership 

Date: Thursday, 13th October, 2005 

Time: 10.30 a.m. 

Place: Council Chamber, Brockington 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the 
meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Heather Donaldson 

01432 261829 

  
 
County of Herefordshire 
District Council 





COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 13TH OCTOBER, 2005 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Health & Care 
Partnership 

 
To: Mr. E.G. Willmott (Chairman) 

Councillor  Mrs. L.O. Barnett (Vice-Chairman) 
 
 Herefordshire Council: 
 Councillors Mrs. M.D. Lloyd-Hayes, R.J. Phillips, D.W. Rule MBE and 

R.V. Stockton 
 Officer: Ms. S. Fiennes (Director of Children's Services) 
 
 Herefordshire Primary Care Trust: 
 Mr. P. Bates (Chief Executive), Ms F. Howie (Assoc. Director of Public Health) 

and Dr. I. Tait (Chairman, Professional Executive Committee) 
 
 Hereford Hospitals Trust: 
 Mrs. C. Moore (Chair) and Mr. D. Rose (Chief Executive) 
 
 Hereford and Worcester Ambulance Service: 
 Mr. R. Hamilton (Chief Executive) and Mrs. J. Newton (Chair) 
 
 Voluntary Sector/Others: 
 Others Ms J. Francis (Chairman pf the Alliance), Ms. H. Horton (Chief Executive 

of the Alliance) and Mr G. Woodman (Hereford and Worcester Chamber of 
Commerce) 

 
  
  
 Pages 
  

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     

 To receive apologies for absence.  

2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)     

 To receive details of any Member nominated to attend the meeting in place 
of a Member of the Board. 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     

 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 
this agenda. 

 

4. MINUTES   3 - 8  

 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 11th July, 2005.  

5. REPORT FROM THE JOINT HEALTH AND CARE COMMISSIONING 
GROUP   

9 - 10  

 To receive a report from the Programme Manager IMPACT in respect of 
items dealt with by the Joint Health and Care Commissioning Group on 
12th September, 2005. 

 



 

6. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S BOARD     

 To receive an oral update on the work of the Children and Young People’s 
Board from the Director of Children’s Services. 

 

7. UPDATE ON THE REVIEW OF THE HEREFORDSHIRE PLAN AND THE 
DEVELOPMENT OF HEREFORDSHIRE'S LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT   

11 - 84  

 To note the work being undertaken and to receive an oral presentation 
updating Members of the Health and Care Partnership on progress to date 
and the next steps in the review of the Herefordshire Plan. 
 

 

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS      
•9. DATE OF NEXT MEETING     

 To note the proposed date for the next meeting of the Health and Care 
Partnership is 10.30 am on Monday 23rd January, 2006. 

 



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\8\3\AI00007383\PUBLINFO0.doc04/10/05 

The Public's Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO:- 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings 

unless the business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or 
‘exempt' information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of 
the meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees 
and written statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet Members for up to six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a 
period of up to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the 
background papers to a report is given at the end of each report).  A 
background paper is a document on which the officer has relied in writing 
the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of the Cabinet, of all 
Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to 
items to be considered in public) made available to the public attending 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have 
delegated decision making to their officers identifying the officers 
concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of 
access, subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a 
maximum of £5.00 per agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50, for postage).   

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend 
meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to 
inspect and copy documents. 

 

1



E:\MODERNGOV\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\8\3\AI00007383\PUBLINFO0.doc04/10/05 

 
Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made 
available in large print or on tape.  Please contact 
the officer named below in advance of the meeting 
who will be pleased to deal with your request. 
 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you have any questions about this Agenda, how the Council works or would 
like more information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information 
described above, you may do so either by telephoning Ms Heather Donaldson 
on 01432 261829 or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 
p.m. Monday - Thursday and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council 
Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford. 

 

 

Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-
Consumer waste. De-inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening 
agents (OBA). Awarded the Nordic Swan for low emissions during production 
and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 

2



HCPartnership11Jul051.doc 

 
 

 
MINUTES of the meeting of the Health and Care Partnership held at 
The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford on 
Monday 11th July, 2005 at 10.30 a.m. 
 
 

Present:  
Herefordshire Council: Councillors: Mrs. L.O. Barnett, Mrs. M.D. Lloyd-Hayes, R.J. 

Phillips, D.W. Rule, R.V. Stockton. 
 
Ms S. Fiennes, Director of Children’s Services. 
 

Herefordshire Primary 
Care Trust: 

Mr. P. Bates (Chief Executive), Ms F. Howie (Associate Director 
of Public Health), Dr. I. Tait (Chairman of the Executive 
Committee), Mr. E.G. Willmott (Chairman of PCT). 
 

Hereford Hospitals 
Trust: 
 

Mr. D. Rose (Chief Executive). 
 

In Attendance: Ms Y. Clowsley (PCT), Mr. S. Hairsnape (PCT), Ms J. Howard 
(PCT), Mr S. Heptinstall, Councillor W.J.S. Thomas. 

  
  
40. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 
  
 That in accordance with Paragraph 9 of the Constitution the Chairman of the 

Herefordshire Primary Care Trust Mr. E.G. Willmott was duly elected Chairman for 
the ensuing municipal year. 

  
41. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN 
  
 That in accordance with Paragraph 10 of the Constitution the Cabinet Member 

(Social Care Adults and Health) Councillor Mrs. L.O. Barnett was duly appointed 
Vice-Chairman for the ensuing municipal year. 
 

  
42. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  
 Apologies for absence were received from the Chairman of the Herefordshire 

Hospital Trust and the Chairman of the Primary Care Trust PPI Forum. 
  
43. NAMED SUBSTITUTES 
  
 There were no named substitutes. 

 
  
44. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  
 There were no declarations of interest made. 
  
  
  
45. MINUTES 
  

AGENDA ITEM 4

3



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP MONDAY, 11TH JULY, 2005 

 

 That the minutes of the meeting held on 11th April, 2005 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

  
46. REPORT FROM THE JOINT HEALTH AND CARE COMMISSIONING GROUP 
  
 Jean Howard, Programme Manager IMPACT informed the Partnership of the issues 

discussed by the Joint Health and Care Commissioning Group at their recent 
meeting on 13th June, 2005.  The key points raised were: 
 
• 'Alliance' funding and procurement.  Jessica Stewart 'Alliance' Project 

Manager gave a presentation on funding and procurement and on a code of 
practice.  The code of practice was well received and is now out for 
consultation until 1st September 2005. 

• Accreditation.  Members were advised that the accreditation process was 
very challenging and that members had to 'buy in' to the process but that it 
was succeeding. 

• Partnership Fund - Small Schemes.  Members were advised that a 
consultation and satisfaction survey had been carried out with organisations 
that had applied for funding from the scheme, however, the response had 
been poor.  Further consultation is to be carried out, with a fresh 
consideration of the data. 

• JCG - Community Transport.  Members were informed of the work of 
Voluntary Action in providing a range of community transport schemes.  It 
was now proposed to work with local health services to look at how linkages 
could be made to improve transport services.  This work is to be carried out 
by Yvonne Clowsley and Trish Jay who will work together to map out the 
various elements of transport in the health community and then liaise with the 
Transport Ambition Group of the Herefordshire Partnership. 

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted and the above comments and 
suggestions be taken into account at discussions with the Transport Ambition 
Group of the Herefordshire Partnership. 
 

  
47. INTERIM JOINT PLANNING AND COMMISSIONING STRUCTURE FOR 

HEREFORDSHIRE 
  
 Yvonne Clowsley made a presentation to Members on the proposed Interim Joint 

Planning and Commissioning Structure for Herefordshire.  
 
She advised that Local Implementation Teams had been established to deliver the 
National Service Frameworks but they now needed to deliver a wider 
commissioning agenda.  The paper presented proposed an interim joint planning 
and commissioning structure which would need further refinement once the current 
health and local authority structural changes had embedded. 
 
It was noted that the review of the Herefordshire Plan and the development of the 
Local Area Agreement would require changes to the number and configuration of 
Ambition Groups.  Members emphasised that they would like changes in the 
structure to take place as soon as possible. 
 
Members discussed the Section 31 Agreements, which are under regular review.  It 
was felt that the Section 31 Agreements could be considered to be demand led.  
However, they would be monitored closely to ensure the right balance between 
providing the service and financing it and keeping in line with Local Area 
Agreements. 

4



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP MONDAY, 11TH JULY, 2005 

 

 
RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted. 

  
48. STATE OF HEREFORDSHIRE REPORT 
  
 Gill Swaithes, Research Officer Herefordshire Partnership, outlined to Members the 

format and functions of the State of Herefordshire Report.  She stated that the 
functions of the report were: 

 
• To evaluate the progress made in meeting the aims of the Herefordshire Plan, 

and; 
• as a resource for Partner organisations to inform strategies, programmes and 

projects, funding bids, and research activities. 
 
The format of the report was: 
 
• a summary table showing progress for indicators and links to ambitions; 
• to provide general facts and figures; 
• ten sections - one for each ambition group - providing contextual information 

and summary tables for indicators, and; 
• to provide sources for further information and contacts at the end of each 

section. 
 
The general contextual information relevant to all users: 
 
• current population; 
• population projections; 
• access to services - deprivation and distances to key services, and; 
• quality of life. 

 
Members were advised of the current population of the county and the projected 
increase in the older population against the national level.  The results of the 
Council's 2003 survey on “what makes Herefordshire a good place to live” were: 
low crime levels; health services; affordable housing; low level traffic congestion 
and access to nature.  Equally when surveyed on where improvements were most 
needed they were: road and pavement repairs; level of traffic congestion; activities 
for teenagers; affordable housing and levels of crime.  

 
A discussion ensued with regards to amenities for young people and concerns were 
expressed around alcohol abuse, which some Members felt was of equal concern 
to that of drug abuse in young people. 

 
The meeting also discussed teenage conception rates.  It was noted that 
Herefordshire’s rate was lower than national rates at 37.2 per 1,000 compared to 
47.6 regionally and 43.1 nationally, but it was still a cause for concern.  Members 
were informed that the new Children’s Services Directorate was proposing to collate 
new and more informative statistical information, with consideration being given as 
to the best mechanism to carry this out. 
 
Mortality rates 
 
Gill Swaithes went on to report on the mortality rate figures from suicide and 
undetermined injury in Herefordshire.  It was noted that Herefordshire figures had 
improved a little and caution was needed when interpreting this data. 
 
Discussion then focussed on the mental health of rural farming communities in the 
current climate of change and particularly in relation to that of young men in the 

5



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP MONDAY, 11TH JULY, 2005 

 

community.  Consideration was given as to whether it was worth gaining more data 
on this issue from the diocesan office as rural churches collated figures on 
depression in the farming community.  However, Paul Bates, Chief Executive of the 
Primary Care Trust, felt this information would only provide part of the picture and it 
needed to be considered as part of the work of the Mental Health Partnership 
Board.  The question was raised as to whether the diocesan office should be 
represented at the Health and Care Partnership meetings.  The Chairman 
undertook to investigate this matter. 
 
Rural Isolation of the Elderly 
 
Members examined the figures relating to the number of people aged 65 and over 
helped to live at home.  Figures suggest Herefordshire does not perform well 
against this indicator but this may be affected by the quantity of services 
commissioned by the statutory services but provided by the voluntary sector and 
others.  It was suggested that alternative ways of collecting this data needed to be 
put in place.  
 
It was noted that it was more difficult to provide services and transport for older and 
vulnerable people. 
 
Adoption Figures 
 
In relation to adoption figures these were low and needed to be monitored, 
however, Members were advised that figures for this year were higher than 
previous years.  
 
Public Health 
 
Obesity was also an issue of concern and work was progressing to look at how we 
could establish reliable data to measure the scale of the problem.  
 
Finally all Members of the Health and Care Partnership agreed they had been 
provided with an excellent report. 

RESOLVED: THAT the report be noted. 
 

  
49. PROPOSED FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
  
 • Development of Local Area Agreements. 

• Ambulance Services and emergency practitioners. 
• Updates on adult mental health services and adult learning disabilities. 
• Ethnic minority services - for a future meeting. 
 

  
50. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
  
 There were no items raised under any other business. 

 
  
  
  
  
51. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
  

6



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP MONDAY, 11TH JULY, 2005 

 

 
RESOLVED: THAT the date, time and venue for the next two meetings was 
Thursday 13th October, 2005 and Thursday 19th January 2006 at 10.30 am at 
the Council Chamber, Brockington, Hereford. 
 

  
 
The meeting ended at 12.30 pm CHAIRMAN 

 

7



8



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP 13TH OCTOBER, 2005  
 

_________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Jean Howard, Programme Manger IMPACT, on (01432) 363942 

  
 Title of Report: Joint Health and Care Commissioning Group (JCG) 
 
 Report By:  Jean Howard 
                                       Programme Manager, IMPACT 
 
 

PURPOSE 
 
This paper highlights the issues dealt with by the Health and Care Joint Commissioning 
Group and gives details about where members of the Partnership can seek additional 
information on the items discussed and agreed. 
 
The Joint Commissioning Group held on 12th September 2005 addressed the following: 
 
 
1. INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

a. The group was advised that Peter Sowerby, the new Older People’s lead in the 
IMPACT team had now taken up his post, and as part of his induction he is currently 
meeting with key people in the relevant organisations. His first priority will be to take 
forward the work on the Older People’s Commissioning Plan which was started earlier 
this year by Peter Kelly, Independent Consultant. 

 
       Peter Sowerby can be contacted on 01432 363844 
 
 b. The group was advised the latest LPSA had not yet been signed off by the Council or 

the ODPM and consequently it had not been possible to progress the various projects 
and work-streams as planned. 

 
      Further information on the progress of the LPSA is available from Andrew Tanner on 

01432 260162 
 

 
2. ALLIANCE  
 

 Helen Horton advised the group that excellent progress is being made on the draft 
code of practice for funding and procurement. Consultation has taken place and the 
final document will be used for a trial period from October, the outcome of which will be 
reported to the Joint Health and Care Commissioning Group. 
 
 
 

 
 

AGENDA ITEM 5

9



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP 13TH OCTOBER, 2005  
 

_________________________________________________________________________________  
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
Jean Howard, Programme Manger IMPACT, on (01432) 363942 

 
 
3. SOUTH WYE HEALTHY LIVING COMMUNITY 
 

An evaluation of the South Wye Healthy Living Community was tabled, which 
highlighted the excellent work that had been achieved during the life of the project. It 
was agreed that continuation of this type of activity needed to be mainstreamed into 
core PCT business and that Yvonne Clowsley/Jean Howard should link with Frances 
Howie and see how this could be picked up as part of the new public health agenda. It 
was also noted that the learning from the South Wye project should now inform 
developments in the Local Public Service Agreement as it had potential for other 
deprived areas of the county.  
 
Further information regarding the evaluation can be obtained from Penny Harding 
project co-ordinator on 01432 383236 
 

 
4. LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 
 

The group received an update on progress and at the time of the meeting submissions 
from the four theme groups had been forwarded to the project co-ordinator and a 
report was to be tabled at the meeting of the LSP Board on 16th September. The Board 
was pleased with the work so far and a final Stage One report will be prepared for 30th 
October, for submission to the Government Office West Midlands. 
 
Background papers to the LAA are attached to the agenda and it is a main agenda 
item for today’s meeting. The submission to ODPM will be available from the 30th 
October 2005. 
 
Copies of the submission can be obtained from Phillippa Lydford on 01432 261788 
 
 

5. PROGRAMME BOARD STRUCTURES 
 

The group considered and approved a detailed version of the planning structures 
agreed by the Health and Care Partnership on 11th July 2005. IMPACT officers are 
now progressing the new arrangements. Where appropriate the new boards will take 
on the role of developing and monitoring the Section 31 agreements. 
 
Further information is available from Jean Howard on 01432 363942 
 
 

6. NEXT MEETING OF THE JOINT HEALTH AND CARE COMMISSIONING GROUP 
 
           15TH DECEMBER 2005 

 

10



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP 13 OCTOBER 2005
  

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Jennifer Watkins, Herefordshire Partnership 
Manager, on 01432 260610  

 
 

UpdateonhfdshireplananddevofhfdshiresLAA0.doc  

UPDATE ON THE REVIEW OF THE HEREFORDSHIRE 
PLAN AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF 
HEREFORDSHIRE’S LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 

Report By: Jennifer Watkins, Herefordshire Partnership 
Support Team 

 

Purpose 

1. This paper and a verbal presentation will update members of the Health and Care 
Partnership on progress to date and the next steps in the review of the Herefordshire 
Plan, and Herefordshire’s successful application for a Local Area Agreement and 
work undertaken to date. Guidance on Local Area Agreements is attached. 

Review of the Herefordshire Plan 

2. Each Local Authority has to produce a Community Strategy, which sets out the 
priorities in the area for public services and action. Each Community Strategy is 
based on the views and aspirations of local people, businesses, local groups and 
agencies.  

In Herefordshire, the Community Strategy is the Herefordshire Plan. The Plan is used 
as a framework by local groups and agencies to strategically plan their work. It 
provides a focus for plans and strategies being developed in the County and is a 
reference point for local people and organisations to judge how well Herefordshire is 
doing. 

The original Herefordshire Plan was developed in 1999 with a 10-year Vision. In 
1999 it was agreed that it would be updated in 2003, and that there would be a wider 
review in 2005, to test that the Vision and Ambitions are still appropriate. It is this 
wider review that is now being undertaken.  

Local Area Agreement 

3. In May 2005 Herefordshire Councils Cabinet gave consent for interest to be 
registered with GOWM in obtaining a Local Area Agreement (LAA). Herefordshire 
Council duly registered interest in being one of the second round LAAs. In June 2005 
Herefordshire Council was advised that it had been successful in securing an LAA, 
and that Herefordshire was to be one of thirteen areas to have a Single Pot LAA. A 
Single Pot gives greater freedom to spend Government funding on the achievement 
of locally agreed outcomes that have been established as part of the LAA. At present 
Telford and Wrekin is the only pilot Single Pot in England. 

The Office of the Deputy Prime minister describes LAAs as “changing communities 
for the better: devolving further power to local authorities and their partners who are 
best placed to define local needs”. LAAs are a new way of striking a deal between 
central Government and Herefordshire and ensuring that the aim and objectives of 
both parties are addressed. Each LAA will be a negotiated agreement made between 
Government, Herefordshire Council, the local community and major public service 
partners, working through the Herefordshire Partnership. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

11



HEALTH AND CARE PARTNERSHIP 13 OCTOBER 2005
  

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Jennifer Watkins, Herefordshire Partnership 
Manager, on 01432 260610  

 
 

UpdateonhfdshireplananddevofhfdshiresLAA0.doc  

 

Government Office for the West Midlands (GOWM) will be managing the LAAs for 
the region, acting as a contact between Local Strategic Partnerships and National 
Government 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT (a) Members of the Health and Care Partnership note the work 
being undertaken; 

 (b) Members consider how they wish to be formally consulted 
as part of the Herefordshire Plan review during November 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• Guidance from the ODPM on Local Area Agreements. 

12



 1

 
 
 
 
 
 

Local Area Agreements Guidance 
 

13



 2

CONTENTS 
         Page Number 
Foreword         3 

Overview         4 

Introduction         5 

The Scope of a LAA        5 

What a Local Area Agreement should look like    6 

Partnerships, roles and responsibilities     7 

Engaging Local People and the Voluntary and Community Sector 8 

Business Sector        9 

Government Offices        9 

Outcomes Framework       9 

LAA Performance Frame work      10 

The Four Blocks and Single Pot      17 

Neighbourhood Renewal       25 

Other Areas that Agreements May Cover    27 

Equality and Diversity: Making improvements inclusive  30 

Agreement Process        31 

The Reward Element of Local Area Agreements   32 

Funding Streams        35 

Mainstream Funding       41 

Payment Systems        41 

Support         41 

 
ANNEX A 
 
Funding Streams        42 
 
ANNEX B 
 
Possible Model for a Local Area Agreement    44 
 
ANNEX C 
 
Freedoms and Flexibilities for LAAs     45 
 
ANNEX D 
 
LAA Outcome Framework       47 

14



 3

FOREWORD  
 
Local Area Agreements are a new contract between central and local 
government to deliver the priorities of local people. In cities, towns and rural 
areas, we want to see shared goals delivered through strong local leadership 
and effective support from Whitehall. We aim to minimise bureaucracy and 
maximise delivery. This will achieve, greater efficiencies for local authorities 
and their partners giving them the freedom to work in a ‘joined up’ way to 
meet the challenges that localities face, in dealing with crime and anti-social 
behaviour, adverse public health trends, and the long-term econo mic and 
social well-being of our communities.   
 
This needs collective and concerted leadership in local areas.  This is the 
governing and community leadership role of councils and Local Area 
Agreements now give us a stronger joint framework for achieving this in 
partnership with those who provide other key services in the locality, and the 
voluntary and community sector and business community.  A Local Area 
Agreement provides a healthy dose of local ambition, local knowledge, and 
local understanding of what works best to achieve national and local priorities.   
 
The emphasis is on learning - LAAs signify a major change in the way central 
and local government work together.  There is more to come as set out in the 
10 year local:vision strategy for local government launched by ODPM last 
summer.   The LAA pilots have taught us much and the guidance and toolkit 
reflect their experience.  The policy has also developed further with the 
inclusion of the new fourth block on economic development and enterprise, 
and the integration of LPSAs as the reward element of LAAs.  In the longer 
term we expect LAAs to be one of the key means by which central 
government communicates with local areas. 
 
LAAs will help bring government and public service delivery closer to people.  
They give local councils and our partners a new way of ensuring better 
outcomes for people, as well as improved public services.  We in central and 
local government must grasp the opportunity with both hands, and show what 
we can do. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rt Hon David Miliband MP   Sir Sandy Bruce-Lockhart 
Minister of Communities and    Chairman of the Local 
Local Government     Government Association 
 

15



 4

Overview  
 

1. In the Local Area Agreements (LAAs) Prospectus, published on 27 July 
2004, the Government set out the key aims of LAAs - to improve 
central/local relations; to improve service delivery; to improve 
efficiency; to improve partnership working; and to enable local 
authorities to provide better leadership.  The agreements were clearly 
set in the wider context of the Government’s 10 year strategy to build a 
new relationship between central and local government, based on 
mutual trust and responsibility. 

 
2. LAAs were signed with 20 pilot areas in March 2005. The intention to 

have a second phase of agreements was announced in January of this 
year. In its election manifesto, the Government committed itself to 
LAAs, and has now agreed to roll LAAs out across England over the 
next two years. 

 
3. There have already been some developments in the policy since the 

pilots concluded their agreements. There is an additional block on 
economic development and enterprise; there is a more developed 
outcomes framework and more developed performance management 
arrangements, which aim to deliver a greater reduction in the burden of 
performance reporting; there are more funding streams available for 
inclusion, such as the Neighbourhood Renewal Fund, where 
applicable, and, a single payment system in development that will 
enable all centrally pooled funding streams to be paid to areas in one 
payment. There will also be significantly more single pot LAAs this 
time, 13, enabling us to test further the potential benefits of being able 
to pool funding across the four LAA blocks. 

 
4. In the longer term, we want to continue to develop the policy so that 

Local Area Agreements become one of the key means by which central 
government communicates with local areas. The LAA performance 
management and outcomes frameworks should become the key 
means for Government and local areas to agree priority outcomes and 
associated targets for improvement. It will also enable local areas to 
report on a focussed set of outcomes to national government becoming 
an area-based framework which encompasses or replaces all other 
area-based reporting frameworks. 

 
5. As stated above, it has now been agreed to roll LAAs out across 

England. This does not mean that the policy will not continue to 
develop. We will use the experience of negotiating the next set of 
agreements to learn further lessons about what works best and to look 
at ways of developing the policy further. LAAs should ultimately provide 
a framework through which goals and priorities, differently geared for 
different parts of the country, can be agreed through a negotiation of 
equals.   

16



 5

Introduction 
 

6. This guidance has been produced for those areas chosen as part of the 
second phase of LAAs, and replaces that produced for the first phase. 
We expect the remaining areas to agree an LAA in 2006/07, for 
commencement in April 2007. It builds on the lessons learnt from the 
pilots and has been produced in consultation with the pilot areas 
themselves, the Local Government Association (LGA), Government 
Offices (GOs) other government departments, the Improvement and 
Development Agency (IDeA) and Regional Development Agencies 
(RDAs).  

 
7. It covers the scope of a LAA; partnerships; roles and responsibilities, 

both in the GOs and local areas; an outline of the negotiation process, 
including an indicative timetable; details of what a final LAA should 
contain and look like; how 2nd Generation Local Public Service 
Agreements (LPSAs) will be integrated with LAAs becoming the reward 
element of LAAs; details of funding streams and outcomes; details of 
support that will be available to authorities and links with other 
initiatives. 

 
8. A toolkit for local areas has also been developed, which should be read 

in conjunction with the guidance. The toolkit provides a more practical 
case study based approach to the development of a LAA and can be 
found on the IDeA website (www.idea.gov.uk). 

 
The Scope of a LAA 

 
9. A Local Area Agreement is a three year agreement that sets out the 

priorities for a local area agreed between central government, 
represented by the Government Office, and a local area, represented 
by the local authority and Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) and other 
key partners at local level. It will be refreshed annually which will 
enable changes in national or local priorities to be reflected; an 
example being the Government’s Spending Review 20061.  The initial 
LAA prospectus established the general principle that LAAs would be 
outcome based and would enable local authorities and their partners to 
deliver national outcomes in a way that reflects local priorities, 
particularly those identified in Community Strategies, which in turn 
reflect other strategies, such as the Local Neighbourhood Renewal 
Strategy, Crime and Drugs Strategies and the Children and Young 
People’s Plan.  This will give local authorities and their partners the 
flexibility to find local solutions to local problems, and to prioritise 
spending to achieve the outcomes identified in a LAA. 

 

                                            
1 The spending review may have a fundamental impact on levels of funding and national 
priorities, which could result in a more detailed annual refresh. The current spending review 
(2004) covers the period 2005/06 to 2007/08. 

17



 6

10. This fits with the Government’s vision for genuinely sustainable 
communities everywhere. Indeed, this is a cross-cutting theme which 
should underpin each of the four LAA blocks.  

 
11. LAAs can also help tackle some of the key long-term challenges which 

are faced by local authorities, LSPs and their communities and which 
need be addressed if we are to realise genuinely sustainable 
communities. These are set out in the Government’s new Sustainable 
Development Strategy launched by the Prime Minister on the 7th March 
2005 which can be found at www.sustainable-development.gov.uk.  

 
12. The agreement is made up of outcomes, indicators and targets aimed 

at delivering a better quality of life for people through improving 
performance on a range of national and local priorities. These priorities 
are grouped round 4 blocks, Children and Young People, Safer and 
Stronger Communities, Healthier Communities and Older People and 
Economic Development and Enterprise. These blocks provide very 
wide ranging coverage of issues in a local area. However the priorities 
need not be confined to these blocks. We would encourage local areas 
to consider other cross-cutting priorities that do not fit into the four 
blocks but that can also be tackled through the LAA.  

 
13. The LAA should therefore reflect the local community strategy, the local 

neighbourhood renewal strategy where relevant, and in the case of the 
economic development block, in particular the Regional Economic 
Strategy. Areas may want to bring together the community strategy -
setting out the longer term vision for the area - and the LAA - the 
practical expression of the community strategy. As set out in Vibrant 
Local Leadership we will be consulting on revised sustainable 
community strategy guidance. In some cases it may also be 
appropriate to consider other relevant regional strategies such as the 
regional spatial strategy. 

 
14. Second Generation Local Public Service Agreements (LPSAs), where 

they have not yet begun negotiation, will be negotiated as part of the 
LAA and will become the reward element of the LAA. Whilst LAAs are 
not about stretch targets, rather better outcomes as a result of increase 
local discretion and reduced bureaucracy, the reward element targets 
will continue to be stretch targets with reward grant payable upon the 
achievement of the target, as was the case for LPSAs. Further details 
on how the LPSA will be negotiated as part of the LAA are given later 
in this guidance. 

 
What a Local Area Agreement should look like 

 
15. Annex B sets out a possible model for local areas to follow when 

submitting their initial proposals to Government Offices. Whilst it is not 
necessary for areas to follow this model exactly, they must ensure that 
their submission sets out the necessary information under the headings 
provided.  

18



 7

Partnerships, roles and responsibilities 
 

16. LAAs should be taken forward by local authorities and Local Strategic 
Partnerships (LSPs) and other key partners at local level. It is important 
that LSPs are inclusive and arrangements put in place to ensure that 
any partners not currently on the LSP are brought into the 
development, negotiation and delivery of the LAA. Government Offices 
will need to be satisfied that all appropriate partners are involved in 
negotiations, particularly where partnership funding is being 
considered. Government Offices need to ensure that representative 
groups are included where a key partner is unavailable. This is 
particularly important for older people where The Pension Service is 
unable to field representatives for all LSPs. In these circumstances 
appropriate voluntary sector partners such as Age Concern, Help the 
Aged, etc should be invited. 

 
17. For two tier areas, arrangements will be more complicated. LAAs 

provide a real opportunity to facilitate joint working between county and 
district councils, LSPs and other partners, and the scope to raise 
performance and direct funding more effectively across a locality to 
target priorities for local people. Areas will have to work hard to identify 
and agree priority outcomes and any agreement will need to 
demonstrate that there has been engagement with district councils and 
their partners. We expect areas to set out in their agreement the 
particular contribution each partner will make to the agreed outcomes. 
The county council and county LSPs, where they exist, should lead the 
discussions. County councils will need to work closely with the districts 
and county LSPs with district LSPs. Where there is no county LSP, or it 
is agreed locally, a district or grouping of district LSPs can fulfil this 
function. The important point is that all relevant partners are involved in 
the development and delivery of the agreement.  

 
18. In two-tier areas, where districts are in receipt of Neighbourhood 

Renewal Funding, or the Neighbourhood and Cleaner, Safer, Greener 
Elements of the SSCF this funding must be directed from the County 
Council to the relevant district who must use the funding to help tackle 
deprivation in their most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. 

 
19. Town and parish councils should also be engaged with the 

development of LAAs. Town and parish councils in many areas are 
already represented on LSPs and can make a valuable contribution to 
establishing local priorities. Many town and parish councils already play 
an important role in helping to develop and implement community 
strategies. 

 
20. Fire and Rescue Authorities (FRAs) should be engaged alongside 

other partners, such as police authorities and police forces, in the 
development and delivery of LAAs. FRAs have the potential to 
contribute within and across the four blocks through improving safety in 
homes and workplaces and reducing arson and anti-social behaviour 

19



 8

through youth diversion and car clear schemes. This is in line with 
advice already disseminated to FRAs within the 2005/06 Fire and 
Rescue National Framework, published in December 2004. 

 
Engaging Local People and the Voluntary and Community Sector 

 
21. Community engagement and delivery by the third sector is a very 

important element in the development of all four blocks. The 
expectation is that successful LAAs will ensure the involvement of 
relevant stakeholders including in particular the Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) and local people themselves in helping to 
identify, shape and deliver local services. Indeed, the VCS should 
already be represented on the LSP. The LAA should include a 
statement of the involvement of the VCS and local people in the design 
and delivery of the agreement.  This should state for example how local 
people and the VCS have been informed; consulted; and given the 
opportunity to participate in the LAA process and the delivery of 
outcomes. The involvement of the VCS and local people should cut 
across the four LAA blocks. The SSC block also includes a mandatory 
outcome on community empowerment and areas will need to reflect 
this in their LAA.  

 
22. The LAA should also state how partners have considered the capacity 

of the voluntary and community sector to contribute effectively and how 
they can best facilitate the involvement of local people. In doing so 
areas should look to build on the infrastructure or capacity building 
services being developed through Change Up where relevant and the 
community capacity building framework provided through “Firm 
Foundations”, both of which can be aligned within the LAA2. Capacity 
building may be the means to achieving other outcomes or be an 
outcome itself. These initiatives reflect the Government’s firm 
commitment to increasing volunteering and the proportion of public 
services delivered through the VCS, utilising the specific knowledge 
and relationships that this sector can bring with it. 

 
23. Local compacts form the basis of the partnership relationship with the 

VCS, providing the framework for partnership working between local 
public sector bodies, including local authorities, and local voluntary and 
community sector organisations.  Local Compacts are increasingly 
involving a wider range of public bodies. Further information on Local 
Compacts3 can be found at www.thecompact.org.uk. LSPs are 
increasingly taking a leading role in this.  They can co-ordinate a 
strategic streamlined approach to voluntary and community sector 
engagement between the ranges of public sector bodies represented 
on the LSP.  Community Empowerment networks can also be a key 

                                            
2 From April 2006 “Capacity Builders” will be responsible for disbursement of Change Up 
monies 
3  The Home Office is currently consulting on Compact plus  which sets out proposals for 
strengthening partnership working with the VCS  

20



 9

resource to empowering local communities to become involved in their 
neighbourhoods. 

 
24. It is possible that a new Defra funding programme aimed at tackling 

social exclusion in rural areas will form one of the funding streams to 
be delivered through LAAs from April 2006.  The aims of that 
programme, on which Defra will be consulting during summer 
2005, would also require the full engagement of the VCS in the LAA. 

 
Business Sector 

 
25. The business sector should already be represented on the LSP. If they 

are not, it is important to involve employers or business representative 
groups such as local Chambers of Commerce, in developing the LAA, 
particularly in relation to the fourth block on Economic Development 
and Enterprise but also in relation to the other blocks. Regional 
Development Agencies (RDAs) are business-led organisations charged 
with tackling regional economic development and regeneration. They 
have a statutory purpose to ensure a coordinated and strategic 
approach to the delivery of economic development in the regions. 
RDAs will already have partnership arrangements with many sub-
regional and local partners to address regional economic development 
priorities set out in the Regional Economic Strategy (RES). In designing 
and delivering the economic development and enterprise block, LAAs 
should consider how outcomes and indicators address local priorities 
while reflecting and supporting the delivery of regional and national 
priorities. The role of RDAs is covered in more detail in the LAA toolkit.  

 
Government Offices 

 
26. Government Offices will represent the Government in the LAA 

discussions. GOs will already have had discussions with those areas 
selected to take part in the second phase of LAAs, and will have 
arranged or will shortly be arranging meetings with areas to discuss in 
more detail the process and answer any questions local areas have.  

 
27. The GOs will also be responsible for the performance management 

and monitoring, including financial monitoring of the agreement once it 
has been signed, and will feed back as necessary to central 
departments. They will also have a role providing support to local areas 
during the lifetime of the agreement.  The role of the GO is covered in 
more detail in the LAA toolkit.  

 
Outcomes Framework 

 
28. We have continued to develop the outcomes framework contained in 

the first advice note.  The purpose of the outcomes framework is to 
provide a menu of possible outcomes and indicators which areas may 
chose to include in their LAA.  Some outcomes and indicators and 
targets are mandatory for all areas, or mandatory if certain funding 

21



 10

streams are included.  These reflect existing targets and therefore do 
not reflect any additional burden on the local area.  The framework 
consists of a menu of high level outcomes drawn from national PSA 
targets or floor targets or other sources.  Additional outcomes can be 
identified and put forward by local areas to reflect local priorities and 
circumstances.  The framework is attached at annex D. 

 
29. For the purposes of an LAA an outcome is defined as ‘a high level aim, 

reflecting national and/or local priorities for improvement.’ The 
approach taken to the outcomes included in an individual LAA will need 
to be viewed in the light of other elements, notably: 

 The selection of funding streams for the inclusion in the 
agreement which may influence the position on the outcomes; 
and 
 The relationship with other plans, e.g. Children and Young 

People’s Plan (required from April 2006), Department of Health 
Local Delivery Plans, Community Strategies and Regional 
Economic Strategies. 

 
30. The Outcomes Framework is structured around four blocks: 

 
 Children and Young People 
 Safer and Stronger Communities 
 Healthier Communities and Older People 
 Economic Development and Enterprise 

 
31. However, we encourage local areas to come forward with outcomes 

that both overarch these blocks and promote synergies between them.  
Engagement with relevant partners locally on cross cutting issues when 
considering these outcomes will be the key to their success. 

 
Performance Framework 

 
32. The overall performance framework for LAAs will be made up of a 

number of different elements and these are defined throughout the 
course of the following paragraphs:   

 
 Outcomes and targets 
 Performance information – monitoring and reporting 

requirements 
 Local performance management arrangements 

 
33. Characteristics of good performance management, as defined by HM 

Treasury and the Cabinet Office in Devolving Decision Making 1, are: 
 

 Real time information – regular and robust data 
 Can do culture inspired by good leadership 
 Agreed lines of accountability 
 Clear performance management review – challenge and support 
 Transparent set of rewards and sanctions 

22



 11

Aims for the overall LAA performance framework 
 

34. In the pilot phase, Advice note 2 set out the high level principles for the 
LAA performance framework.  Since then we have been working to 
develop a clear performance framework for LAAs which takes on board 
the learning and experience of the pilots and seeks to achieve the 
following overarching aims for the overall framework: 

 
 A common  framework which allows flexibility for  local 

approaches and tailoring towards individual circumstances;  
 An area based framework which is joined up and coherent, 

where all reporting mechanisms are clear and that has the 
commitment of all partners and ensures clear horizontal 
accountability; and 
 A clear set of ‘streamlined’ national reporting requirements. 

 
35. One of the aims of the LAA process is to streamline, simplify and 

integrate existing performance management arrangements into one 
area-based framework.  This should include the rationalisation of 
performance monitoring and reporting at all levels.  This will take some 
time to fully develop and will be an evolving process – the following 
paragraphs set out some of the ways we hope to achieve this.     

 
36. Local areas are dealing with a complex set of issues in relation to the 

LAA performance framework, both in terms of understanding the 
different arrangements of partners at the local level and bringing 
together the different mechanisms for monitoring and reporting the 
relevant information to meet central Government requirements.  We 
want to continue to develop the LAA performance framework alongside 
local areas and will work in more depth with a small number of pilots to 
understand the local picture of performance management, monitoring 
and reporting, and to begin to address any barriers to prevent the 
streamlining and joining up of arrangements.   

 
37. As part of the rationalisation of reporting requirements we aim to move 

towards a single clear set of outcomes and indicators based, in the 
longer term, on the relevant set of national PSAs which would form the 
core of the agreements, alongside local priorities that fall outside of this 
set.  The PSA framework will be subject to discussion and review as 
part of Government’s Spending Review 2006. It is appropriate that 
central Government should monitor and manage performance of these 
national and strategic priorities.    This will provide clear reporting lines 
and delivery chains, removing duplication in performance management 
and monitoring. 

 
38. For performance monitoring, we would like to move towards a real-time 

transparent and robust monitoring system that would provide all 
partners with access to relevant information. This would allow them to 
review and manage progress and performance across the LAA at any 
given point in time, provide information to local people about local 

23



 12

improvements, and contribute to a national picture of performance. This 
would be beneficial for local areas and GOs.  This is an evolving 
process but support and information will be provided to local areas over 
time to help this develop.  

 
39. LAAs can bring enormous benefits in terms of simplified and more 

transparent performance management. We have therefore developed a 
set of local performance management characteristics as the basis for 
successful performance management of the LAA.  The characteristics 
aim to improve and build confidence in the local performance 
management arrangements. This is vital to allow further devolution of 
decision making and relaxation of central Government monitoring and 
reporting requirements.    

  
Outcomes and targets 

 
40. The outcomes and targets set out in the LAA will be the factors by 

which the success of the LAA is measured.  One or more indicators 
should support each outcome and targets should be attached to 
indicators.  For the purposes of an LAA a target is defined as a ‘clear, 
timebound milestone for achieving the outcome.’  Targets will be 
agreed in developing the agreement and contained within the LAA. 

 
Performance information – monitoring and reporting requirements 

 
41. There is a huge amount of information about local issues and services 

currently gathered and reported on, including arrangements for 
different programmes and funding streams.  The LAA process provides 
the opportunity to streamline and reduce this performance 
management traffic, particularly in relation to the arrangements for 
different programmes and funding streams.  For example, where 
Children’s Fund is centrally pooled in the LAA, CF partnerships will no 
longer be required to complete quarterly claims and expenditure 
reconciliations or quarterly returns that track children receiving CF 
services.   

 
42. For funding streams pooled in the LAA, current monitoring and 

reporting arrangements will be replaced by the need to only monitor 
and report those outcomes and targets agreed as part of the LAA, 
unless otherwise stated in the section on funding streams set out later 
in this guidance.  We will continue to engage with Local Government 
and partners and central Government colleagues to understand the 
picture of local performance information traffic and to streamline and 
rationalise further wherever appropriate. GOs will also support the local 
area to ensure necessary performance information is shared in a co-
ordinated way to avoid confusion and duplication in reporting 
mechanisms.   

 
43. As we develop LAAs and the wider performance framework, as 

proposed in the ‘securing better outcomes: developing a new 

24



 13

performance framework’, we will be looking for reporting systems to be 
merged and streamlined. However, during the transition to the new 
framework, information that relates to national PSAs will still have to be 
collected and monitored through existing systems where this is 
necessary for monitoring progress nationally of the PSA target.  This 
will include arrangements for specific programmes implemented to 
deliver national targets, such as the Drugs Intervention Programme and 
Prolific and Other Priority Offender Strategy. As proposed in ‘securing 
better outcomes: developing a new performance framework’, with 
certain local public services it will also be important to retain a 
capability to assess performance across the country on a consistent 
basis. Certain specific frameworks, policing for example, will therefore 
continue. Other statutory reporting requirements, for example Best 
Value Performance Indicators, will still need to be collected and 
reported in the normal way.  

 
Local performance management 

 
44. Local areas will need strong arrangements for local performance 

management to ensure effective and efficient local delivery of the LAA.  
For the purposes of the LAA performance framework we have identified 
a number of characteristics as the basis for successful performance 
management of the LAA, building on the elements defined by HM 
Treasury and the Cabinet Office, as set out above, and the learning 
from the first phase of LAAs.  

 
45. These characteristics focus on the strength of arrangements that the 

area has in place, as opposed to the particular systems it uses.  They 
set out the basic needs of any performance management framework 
and are aspects that many areas will already have in place.  The 
characteristics are set out to ensure that local areas are clear about the 
expectation and have the right support and capacity to deliver robust 
performance management that is fit for purpose. 

 
46. Before the LAA is signed, local areas are expected to demonstrate they 

have the characteristics in place outlined below or have processes in 
place to develop them during the early phases of implementation. GOs 
will consider this as part of reaching agreement and progress will be 
reviewed at the first six monthly meeting.    

 
47. Outcomes: 

 
 The agreed outcomes should be derived from evidence of local 

circumstances which may be set out in various strategies; 
 There is buy-in at the highest level – political and official – from 

all partners to the LAA’s outcomes and targets including both 
tiers in two-tier authorities; and 
 There is clear agreement between partners about delivering the 

LAA 
 

25



 14

48. Indicators and Targets: 
 

 Key national and local priorities are reflected in the outcomes 
and targets;  
 Robust indicators are agreed for each outcome, underpinned 

with the data flows necessary to assess performance at suitably 
regular intervals; 
 Targets are set on all indicators, which are realistic, measurable, 

evidenced and timed; and 
 Targets are underpinned by trajectories so that progress can be 

judged at any specific time. 
 
49. Performance monitoring and reporting: 
 

 Reporting chains between partners on progress against targets 
and indicators are agreed; 
 Partners are able to bring performance information together to 

monitor the outcomes and targets across the LAA, and are able 
to report this information to the GO;  
 Performance data is transparent and accessible to local partners 

and GOs; and 
 Partners are gathering and using data at the appropriate spatial 

level (in particular on NRF indicators and in wealthy areas with 
pockets of deprivation). 

 
50. Performance management and improvement: 
 

 There are regular, robust and frequent processes in evidence for 
identifying locally when performance is succeeding or failing; 
 Local partners are clear who is responsible for which outcomes 

and are developing their own local ‘ladder of intervention’; 
 There is agreement between the GO and the local partners on 

possible GO lead actions to correct continued under-
performance and the circumstances under which they would 
occur, taking account of the other wider support arrangements; 
and 
 There are clear mechanisms for identifying and addressing 

changes in performance against the trajectories. 
 

51. Operational planning and delivery: 
 

 Strategies have been developed into operational plans within 
each organisation and the partnership as a whole, with 
timescales, milestones and responsible owners.  Government 
would not want to see these plans, unless there was an ongoing 
problem with meeting a specific outcome, in which case it would 
be one on the first things the GO would ask to see; and 
 There are processes in place at both the constituent 

organisation and partnership levels for tracking progress against 
operational plans. 

26



 15

Delivering the LAA – the continuing interface between local areas and the 
GO 

 
52. There should be a continuing dialogue between the local area and the 

GO after the agreement of the LAA as partners in seeking to deliver the 
agreed outcomes and targets.  The level and nature of this dialogue 
should be tailored towards the individual circumstances of the local 
area.  There are already mechanisms in place between the GO and the 
local area for performance monitoring and management of a number of 
outcomes and targets, for example for crime information through 
iQuanta.  The performance monitoring and management relationship 
between the local area and the GO for the LAA should take account of 
these mechanisms.  As real-time access to performance information 
evolves in other areas the monitoring of LAAs should also evolve to 
take account of this.   

 
53. In order to bring together activity and secure coordination across the 

LAA these continuous ongoing discussions should be periodically 
summarised in a six-monthly performance review stock take meeting.  
At these, areas should report on progress against outcomes and 
targets and spend against each of the four blocks.  The meeting will 
primarily check progress against the following elements of the 
agreement: 

 Performance against outcomes and targets; 
 Continued strength of partnership working, with the VCS and 

local people in particular; and 
 Development of further performance management and delivery 

mechanisms. 
 
54. Discussion should focus on good performance, examples of innovative 

ideas which are delivering, and problems and how partners are 
resolving them.  Support that could be offered by central Government 
and continuing identification of enabling measures which would help 
the local area achieve their priorities should also be discussed.  Where 
progress is not being made the GO will provide challenge and support 
– asking to see delivery plans, making recommendations for change, 
and agreeing action list for the next meeting.  In subsequent meetings if 
progress is still not being made then the GO will begin to implement 
further action to address under-performance.  The level of discussion 
on the points set out above will be tailored towards individual 
circumstances and capacity and less detailed in areas where 
performance continues to be strong.   

 
Addressing under-performance 

 
55. Where under-performance is sustained in areas of national priority, the 

GO will act to ensure action is taken by local partners.  This action is 
likely to depend on funding streams included, which partner(s) are 
responsible for delivery and the nature of the problems, and may 
include the following progressive steps: 

27



 16

 Engagement of external support from within local government 
e.g. to build capacity; 
 More regular monitoring of performance from the GO; 
 Agreement of diagnoses and improvement plans with the GO. 

 
56. Where performance has returned to trajectory, or shows every 

indication of doing so, partners and the GO should agree the terms and 
process of disengagement to ensure continued improvement.  The 
partnership will want to continue monitoring performance closely as 
support is disengaged.  Local partners will need to rapidly respond 
should performance once again dip. 

 
57. Alternatively, in cases of chronic and/or sustained underperformance, 

e.g. over several consecutive quarters, the GO will work closely with 
the relevant central government stakeholders.  In consultation with the 
local partnership, the GO - representing central government - may 
require any or all of the following steps to be taken: 

 A revised diagnosis and/or improvement plan led by central 
government or external experts; 
 The re-imposition of separate funding streams, i.e. the re-

introduction of ring-fencing and potentially separate reporting 
arrangements; 
 The dissolution of the LAA as a whole.   

 
58. Every other six-monthly meeting, coinciding with the end of the 

financial year, will also include a strategic review of the LAA.  As well 
as the agenda set out above, this will provide the opportunity for a 
strategic re-assessment of the LAA.  It will enable local partners to 
consider with the GO whether the LAA outcomes remain the correct 
priorities in the light of, for example, Comprehensive Spending 
Reviews.  It will also provide the chance to discuss the addition or 
removal of funds and associated targets to reflect performance and/or 
the changing national provision of individual funds.  

 
The interface between LAAs and audit, inspection and Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment (CPA) 
 

59. The blocks of the LAA are shared priorities and are embedded in the 
corporate assessment of CPA 2005 which will look at how councils 
work with their partners towards delivery of these shared priorities.  
Three of the blocks are reflected in separate themes within the 
corporate assessment, with economic development and enterprise 
reflected throughout them.  In those areas where there is a LAA in 
place this will be a key piece of evidence of how the council delivers 
these priorities in partnership.   In addition, the LAA may be taken into 
account in shaping corporate assessment activity.   

 
60. As they develop LAAs will be considered as a key factor in shaping the 

long term approach to post CPA local Government performance 
assessment.   

28



 17

61. As stated in advice note 1 additional inspection activity will not be 
carried out as a result of an area having an LAA in place. However, 
there may be some implications for the work that appointed auditors 
carry out in audited and inspected bodies under their responsibilities 
set out in the new code of audit practice approved in March 2005 
(available on www.audit-commission.gov.uk).  Auditors have 
responsibilities not only to audit the financial statements but also the 
audited body’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.  There are a number of aspects of 
the way an LAA is set up or operates that auditor’s may wish to 
consider when carrying out this work, based on their view of the 
associated risk.   

 
The Four Blocks and Single Pot 

 
62. As stated above, the LAA will be grouped around four blocks. A brief 

overview of each block is given below and includes, amongst other 
things, details of how LAA discussions fit with any other discussions 
between government and local areas on the issues covered by the 
blocks.  

 
63. It is worth emphasising here that the four blocks should not constrain 

areas. If there are any priorities that local areas would like to include in 
their agreement that do not fit easily into any of the four blocks they 
should discuss how best to handle these with their GO.  

 
Children's and Young People's Block 

 
64. The Children and Young People’s (CYP) block provide an additional 

opportunity to address the Every Child Matters (ECM): change for 
children agenda, which aims to secure the best possible outcomes for 
children, young people and their families. The five ECM outcomes – Be 
Healthy, Stay Safe, Enjoy and Achieve, Make a Positive Contribution 
and Achieve Economic Wellbeing – mirror the key objectives for this 
block. LAAs and the closer integration of children’s services through 
children’s trusts are mutually reinforcing. LAAs support and can give 
added impetus to the ECM agenda with children’s trusts as the main 
delivery vehicle for the CYP elements of the LAA. 

 
65. As part of ECM, children’s trusts bring together all services for children 

and young people in an area and focus on improving outcomes through 
integrated delivery. While integrated delivery can be fostered in many 
ways, and at many levels, joint commissioning, underpinned by pooled 
resources, will ensure that those best able to provide the right package 
of services can do so.  The ECM web address is 
www.everychildmatters.gov.uk  

 
66. Where an area is negotiating a second phase LAA to begin in April 

2006, the discussion of the Children and Young People’s block should 
arise from the CYP priorities conversation and the development of the 

29



 18

Children and Young People’s Plan. The priorities conversation takes 
place between local authorities and their partners on the one hand, 
and between central government advisers and GO representatives on 
the other about local priorities for children and young people in the 
context of national priorities. For LAAs, this should consider the 
outcomes (including LAA reward element), freedoms and flexibilities 
and funding streams to be agreed during the course of the 
negotiations.  

 
67. For areas that have already agreed a first phase LAA, the priorities 

conversation may be used to consider implementation so far and any 
issues arising.  

 
68. Discussion of the LAA must involve all relevant partners at both local 

level and at regional level on behalf of Government. This is particularly 
important where partnership funding is involved and/or where there is a 
specialist adviser or fieldforce responsible for a particular policy area 
e.g. Sure Start, Connexions, Children’s Fund, Teenage Pregnancy, 
National Workforce Remodelling Team. The VCS should be involved at 
all stages from need analysis and prioritisation to commissioning. The 
LAA should also include a commitment by the local area to ensure the 
active participation of children and young people in the design and 
delivery of services included in the agreement. 

 
69. Ensuring that children and young people are able to make healthy 

choices needs to be an integral part of the LAA, as part of the 'be 
healthy' outcome of ECM is an important outcome in its own right and 
also supports the other ECM outcomes. The National Service 
Framework or Children, Young People and Maternity Services sets out 
national standards for children and young people's  health and well-
being, and the Choosing Health Public Health White Paper Delivery 
Plan builds on this by setting out the key public health priorities for 
children and young people.  These documents provide an additional 
framework in which to develop LAAs for children and young people 
across the board and ensure a focus on key high impact interventions 
and markers of good practice. 

 
70. Children's trusts will have a critical role to play in determining the 

services needed to drive forward improved outcomes in children's 
health and well-being, as well as in education and social care.   As set 
out in the Choosing Health Delivery Plan, ensuring delivery of improved 
health outcomes through Children's Centres and establishing Healthy 
School status are examples of key interventions that focus on 
improving health outcomes from conception right the way through to 
adolescence. 

 
71. Links with the Healthier Communities and Older People block are likely 

to be important in delivering improved outcomes for children, and it will 
therefore also be important to ensure alignment with the relevant Local 
Delivery Plans of PCTs. 

30



 19

Healthier Communities and Older People 
 

72. The Healthier Communities and Older People block provides an 
opportunity to improve the health of the local population and reduce the 
profound inequalities in health that exist between areas and groups, 
particularly in the Spearhead Group of local authority areas which have 
the worst health status and deprivation. A key objective for this block, 
therefore, is to ensure joined up action to improve the quality of life and 
health of disadvantaged areas and groups and older people. LAAs will 
be expected to demonstrate progress on both elements of this block – 
improving public health and promoting independence and wellbeing for 
older people – and the selection of indicators should reflect the full 
breadth of the policy coverage in services provided by local authorities, 
the NHS and their partners. 

 
73. LAAs will be expected to demonstrate their engagement with the 

Government’s PSA health of the public targets and supporting older 
people’s independence targets. Related Commission for Social Care 
Inspection (CSCI), Audit Commission and DH indicators are among 
those that can be included in LAAs. 

 
74. The block should demonstrate the co-delivery role for local authorities 

and Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) set out in the Choosing Health White 
Paper Delivery Plan. In order to maximise the impact of this block, 
areas should consider the best practice guidance published by the 
Health Development Agency. The priorities identified in the annual 
reports of the Directors of Public Health as well as the health equality 
audits may also prove useful in the prioritisation process. PCTs are 
important partners for LAA local authorities in identifying, designing and 
implementing appropriate services in this theme, and providing 
information on health.  

 
75. The PCT contribution to the LAA will be signed-off by the Strategic 

Health Authority (SHA), who will ensure this is aligned with the Local 
Delivery Plan (LDP). LDPs for the period 2005/06 – 2007/08 will be 
signed-off by summer 2005 and PCTs in the second wave of LAAs 
should align the NHS contribution to the LAA with the already agreed 
LDP. There should, however, be scope to build new activity on to the 
LDP. From 2006/07 new shared indicators applied by CSCI and the 
Healthcare Commission (to be published later this year) should allow 
for aligned assessment within both the regulator’s rating and health 
check systems.  

 
76. LAAs are integral to a local area's approach to addressing the impact 

of an ageing community and delivering outcomes which will improve 
the quality of life of older people, by promoting active engagement and 
participation, independence and choice. 

 
77. Local areas should develop wider partnerships (including utility 

companies, for example) with the objective of mainstreaming older 

31



 20

people interests into all areas of the community such as: take up of 
welfare benefits; home security; crime and fear of crime; energy 
efficiency; better access to care; and, a range of opportunities for self-
fulfilment and civic engagement. This is about extending our reach to 
promote well being, independence and social inclusion for older 
people, both by improving services but also better provision of 
information about what is available and easier access to the services 
themselves.  

 
78. In order for older people to live active and fulfilling lives, they should be 

productively engaged (including those who are hard to reach) in the 
process of development and design of services that meet their needs 
and aspirations. Availability of those activities which promote well being 
and social inclusion - such as leisure and life long learning - deserves 
the same consideration as quality and accessibility of services which 
respond to need when it arises - such as health and social care. And 
where an acute need does arise, it becomes even more important to 
ensure services are joined up, person-centred, tailored to individual 
need and provided in ways which give older people control and choice. 

 
79. Local areas should address and respond to issues, beyond health and 

social care, in the areas that older people say are important to improve 
their quality of life: 

 
 Housing and the home 
 Neighbourhood 
 Social activities, social networks and keeping busy 
 Getting out & about 
 Income Information 
 Healthy living 

 
80. These domains cut across the full range of local community priorities, 

and local areas should seek to ensure that older people are 
represented and their needs taken into account in developing 
outcomes in all aspects community planning. 

 
81. The Healthier Communities and Older People block will be handled 

through the Regional Public Health Group in the Government Office 
and the SHA. 

 
Safer and Stronger Communities Block 
 
82. The starting point for the Safer and Stronger Communities Block is the 

Safer and Stronger Communities Fund. The purpose of this fund is to 
help partners to work together in addressing priorities around crime, 
drugs, anti-social behaviour, improving public spaces, making public 
services more responsive to local needs and empowering local 
communities to influence local decision making, encouraging greater 
active citizenship and more formal volunteering in civic life. Phase Two 
LAAs will already have negotiated Safer and Stronger Communities 

32



 21

Fund agreements and these should provide a foundation from which to 
develop this theme.4 The LAA toolkit provides further advice for areas 
starting a LAA in April 2006 on how to import their Safer and Stronger 
Community Fund agreements and further develop them into the SSC 
block of their LAA. 

 
83. In developing this block it is important that Local Authorities ensure that 

their local delivery partners are fully engaged, including neighbourhood 
management pathfinders, environmental CVS organisations such as 
BTCV and local Groundwork Trusts, local VCS infrastructure 
organisations together with Community Empowerment Networks where 
they have been established, and members of crime and drug 
partnerships, Youth Offending Teams and policing and criminal justice 
agencies.5  This theme should reflect these partners’ existing strategies 
or delivery plans e.g. strategies for renewal of neighbourhoods, and 
plans for tackling Prolific and Other Priority Offenders or reducing 
reoffending. The development of this block is also an opportunity to tie 
the LAA outcomes and targets to existing priorities and targets such as 
those contained in Policing and Performance Assessment Framework, 
to avoid repetition or duplication. 

 
84. LAAs should of course reflect the cross-cutting nature of delivering 

outcomes such as the need to promote cohesive communities. 
Therefore, in developing the Safer and Stronger Communities block it 
is crucial that outcomes are linked with wider outcomes in other blocks. 
For example, many solutions to crime and disorder are rooted in better 
health, housing, education and environmental design and that is why it 
is so important for crime and drugs partnerships to work closely 
together with other LSP partners. Local areas should consider the use 
of cross-cutting programmes, such as the Children’s Fund, that deliver 
against outcomes in each block. 

 
85. Reducing reoffending is a good example of this type of cross cutting 

outcome as it involves paying attention to supporting people, 
particularly vulnerable people such as children and older people with 
the added intention of reducing crime.  Most obviously, reoffending has 
an impact on its victims, and on their families, and communities as a 
whole, predominantly the most disadvantaged. It also exacts a heavy 
toll on the families and lives of reoffenders, many of whom are 
themselves from vulnerable groups in society. 

 

                                            
4 For instance the agreements will already have crime reduction targets negotiated with Crime 
and Disorder Reduction Partnerships as part of the Home Office PSA 1 process, and for 
those crime types not covered by British Crime Survey (BCS) Comparator crimes, including 
domestic violence (offences other than those in the BCS comparator, alcohol fuelled violence, 
sexual offences, gun crime, race and other hate crime and crimes against business where 
these cover a local priority. 
5 The term ‘Crime and Drugs partnerships refers to all local arrangements covering the roles 
of Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) and Drugs Action Teams (DATs). 
CDRPs and DATs should either be merged or have close working relationships.  

33



 22

86. In terms of cost to the criminal justice system, recorded crime alone 
committed by ex-prisoners comes to at least £11 billion a year and an 
ex-prisoner’s path back to prison is extremely costly. In addition ex-
prisoners are likely to be prolific offenders.6 The Prolific and Other 
Priority Offender Strategy has been implemented as a mainstream 
approach for the police, probation and prison services to tackle this. 
However the end to end requirements of offender management means 
that other local partners (including local people) need to provide the 
support and services necessary to intensively manage identified 
offenders to rehabilitate them from offending lifestyles. Local 
Authorities and their partner’s roles in tackling offenders are affirmed by 
the LGA’s report ‘Going Straight’. The LAA is therefore an ideal 
opportunity to deliver clear cross cutting cost effective outcomes and 
consideration should be given to the prioritisation of services within the 
Community Safety agenda.  

 
87. The drugs agenda is also an example of a cross cutting agenda where 

tackling underlying causes of substance misuse must go hand in hand 
with work to reduce crime, reoffending, anti social behaviour, work to 
provide avenues out of drugs through neighbourhood renewal, 
employment opportunities and better sustainable housing and to 
engage and work with communities. 

 
88. The liveability agenda is another area where a cross cutting approach 

can help deliver cleaner, safer and greener communities, in addition to 
helping increase public reassurance; for example by increasing 
opportunities for leisure, sport and exercise by working collaboratively 
with the community (young and old) and voluntary sector, and perhaps 
supervised offenders from the local Prison, Youth Offending Team and 
probation, to reclaim neglected public space, currently being used for 
illegal or anti-social activity. 

 
89. Similarly, neighbourhood management is an area that can offer cross-

cutting outcomes across all LAA block. It helps the full range of service 
providers working in individual priority neighbourhoods to enhance and 
join up services and improve local outcomes, harnessing the 
knowledge of residents and front line workers. 

 
90. The Cleaner, Safer, Greener Element of the SSCF provides 

predominantly capital funding. This can be used to deliver a wide range 
of physical improvements ranging from small refurbishments to the 
creation of new public spaces. But experience with the Liveability Fund 
has shown that such improvements are more sustainable when 
accompanied by robust management and maintenance regimes that 
can preserve the quality of these spaces. By aligning the various SSC 
funding elements, the overall cleaner, safer, greener outcome can be 
enhanced and sustained. Local Authorities should also seek relevant 

                                            
6 Home Office research indicates that around 100,000 offenders are responsible for nearly 
half of all crime (5000 of the most active offenders responsible for one in ten offences). 

34



 23

professional advice on public space design and improvements from 
organizations such as CABE Space. Many local authorities already 
adhere to the principles and approaches underpinning the Green Flag 
Award scheme in terms of improving, managing and maintaining green 
spaces, even where they do not apply for formal assessment of their 
parks and other green spaces. 

 
91. Public space issues concern people of all ages in all areas. Litter, 

graffiti, fly-tipping, abandoned cars, the loss of play areas and footpaths 
are, for many, the top public service priority; and everyone has a part to 
play. There is a clear continuum from litter to more serious 
environmental crime. Left unchecked, dirty streets and neighbourhoods 
affect the perception of local community, which can lead to anti-social 
behaviour and eventually serious crime.  

 
92. The Safer and Stronger Communities Block can also include other 

environmental issues such as waste management, accessibility to the 
countryside and local air quality. For those areas in receipt of 
Aggregates Sustainability Levy Fund, this fund can be included in the 
LAA providing there is a clear linkage made between the community 
projects to improve the local environment and the effects of aggregates 
production and that this is reflected in the relevant outcome. 
 

93. The need to engage local people and the voluntary and community 
sector in developing and delivering sustainable solutions is essential, 
and also helps build community cohesion, which is a key building block 
of ‘Sustainable Communities’. The safer and stronger elements are 
complementary, not competing, agendas and should be given equal 
prominence within the LAA. One example of how this can be achieved 
includes community safety partnerships focussing on the number of 
volunteers or voluntary and community organisations working to deliver 
their targets and seeing how they can actively support and improve 
performance of the organisations and volunteers.  

 
94. Community participation in the planning, delivery, management and 

maintenance of public spaces can also produce significant community 
cohesion and sustainability benefits. Generally, such participation 
results in the provision of more locally relevant facilities for which the 
local community have a greater sense of ownership. This is reflected in 
spaces that are better used, meet the needs of all sectors of the 
community, and are respected. Although not immune, they are much 
less likely to be the focus of anti-social behaviour and serious 
vandalism. 

 
95. Community participation in service delivery obviously stretches well 

beyond consultation. Resident and user groups and their involvement 
in the management of partnerships can add great value to local 
democracy and they can also be useful service delivery partners. Areas 
should therefore consider how this agenda applies across all the LAA. 
Community participation gives service providers better local knowledge 

35



 24

about local needs, increases awareness of the joined-up nature of 
problems and the potential for joined up solutions. 

 
96. Government Offices will need to make strong links with other regional 

and sub-regional partners on areas not covered by their remit, for 
example on criminal justice, immigration or offender resettlement. Key 
regional Criminal Justice Partners will be the police and Regional 
Offender Managers under the National Offender Management Service 
(NOMS) programme and for drug treatment the National Treatment 
Agency. 

 
Economic Development and Enterprise Block 

 
97. The Economic Development and Enterprise Block gives areas the 

opportunity to improve the economic growth and productivity of a 
locality, addressing market failures that prevent sustainable economic 
development, regeneration and business growth – consistent with the 
analysis in the HM Treasury publication Productivity in the UK 4: The 
Local Dimension. The key drivers of the Government’s policy on 
economic growth and productivity – employment, enterprise, skills, 
innovation, investment and competition – are reflected in the objectives 
for this block.  

 
98. Delivery of successful policy on economic growth and productivity 

requires close working, and often co-delivery, between key partners 
with responsibility for these closely related policy levers. This often 
requires working across geographical administrative boundaries. Key 
partners in the development of this block will be Regional Skills 
Partnerships, Regional Development Agencies, Learning and Skills 
Councils and Job Centre Plus. Regional Skills Partnerships include 
RDAs, LSCs, Job Centre Plus, the Skills for Business Network and the 
Business Links Network. Their role is to ensure that the strategy for the 
supply of skills, training and business support and labour market 
services is planned, managed and delivered in a coherent, 
collaborative way which reflects the priorities set out in Regional 
Economic Strategies. 

 
99. RDAs are responsible, in consultation with partners for the 

development of Regional Economic Strategies. They also have 
responsibility for advising government more generally on economic 
development. Government Offices will therefore look to fully involve 
RDAs on proposals for this block, in particular how they fit with RES. 
Clearly, RDAs will also have a role, in partnership with others, for the 
delivery of economic development and enterprise outcomes. 
Government Offices will ensure that arrangements are put in place to 
prevent any conflict of interest between these roles. 

 
100. The selection from the outcomes set out in the economic 

development and enterprise block, and the indicators that accompany 
them, must be made in the context of the RES and other sub-regional 

36



 25

economic plans. Local areas should avoid the proliferation of schemes 
or initiatives that reinvent efforts underway by other key partners and 
rather focus on consolidation and growth that complement existing 
efforts as part of a broader, coherent strategy. To this end Government 
Offices – working together with RDAs – will monitor activity in this block 
to ensure it is fully consistent with the RES, and other sub-regional 
economic plans, thereby maximising impact. 

 
101. Economic development, particularly of deprived areas, is crucial 

to improving health and reducing inequalities in health. The Department 
of Health and Regional Development Agencies have agreed to work 
together at national and regional level to achieve economic and health 
objectives. The NHS is being encouraged to support local regeneration 
through its employment and procurement activities and the capital 
building programme. 

 
102. This block also contains a set of three basic mandatory 

outcomes that will apply to those authorities successful in applying for 
support from the Local Enterprise Growth Initiative (LEGI). A 
consultation document on LEGI was published alongside the budget7. 
Guidance on how LEGI will operate is due to be published in July, 
following the consultation. 

 
Single Pot 

 
103. For this phase of LAAs, there will be 13 single pots. These areas 

were selected on the basis that their performance across the range of 
delivery services was good.8 For single pot areas, it will not be 
necessary to group either outcomes or funding streams under the four 
LAA blocks. Areas will have freedom to spend any funding on the 
achievement of any of the outcomes agreed as part of the LAA. 
However, where there are mandatory outcomes, indicators and targets 
associated with particular funding streams they will need to be included 
in single pot areas. The aim of the single pot LAA is to further 
investigate the key benefits of this additional flexibility.  

 
Neighbourhood Renewal 

 
104. LAAs are expected to be a major tool in neighbourhood renewal, 

in particular, in overcoming disadvantage and improving the quality of 
life in areas facing the greatest challenge.  

 
105. Areas in receipt funding from the Neighbourhood Renewal Unit 

will have this funding pooled as part of their LAA. They must 
demonstrate how the LAA will help narrow the gap between the most 
deprived neighbourhoods and the rest of the district. Outcomes should 

                                            
7 This can be found at http://www.neighbourhood.gov.uk/publications.asp?did=1509 
8 The Single Pot areas are: Blackburn with Darwen, Brent, Croydon, East Riding, Hampshire, 
Hartlepool, Herefordshire, Kingston, Lewisham, Shropshire, Westminster, West Sussex and 
Worcestershire 

37



 26

demonstrate how they will have a positive impact within deprived 
neighbourhoods and for BME and other groups that have been 
identified as disadvantaged. 

 
106. In two-tier areas, where funding from the Neighbourhood 

Renewal Unit is for a specific district, funding must be directed from the 
County Council to the eligible district who must use the funding to help 
tackle deprivation in their most disadvantaged neighbourhoods. 

 
107. For any area in receipt of NRF, there are six mandatory 

neighbourhood renewal outcomes which must be included in the 
agreement. These are set out below and the tables in Annex D indicate 
those outcomes that are mandatory neighbourhood renewal ones. 
Indicators and targets for these outcomes will be agreed during 
negotiations. 

 
108. Performance monitoring and management of NRF will form part 

of the LAA performance monitoring and management arrangements, 
provided these meet the core requirements of the NRF LSP 
performance management framework. One implication of this in two tier 
areas will be that districts will report progress against the outcomes 
(including the mandatory NRF outcomes) to the relevant county 
council, as the accountable body for the LAA who will include this with 
the information they supply to the Government Office. 

 
109. LAAs outside areas that receive funding from the NRU may also 

have pockets of deprivation so may consider including a specific focus 
on these areas in their strategies and outcomes too. Partners should 
strive to ensure a consistency of outcomes and indicators between the 
neighbourhoods and local authority as a whole, so it is clear where 
action in a neighbourhood is feeding through to help to achieve wider 
local outcomes. 

 
 CRIME – reduce overall crime in line with local Crime and 

Disorder Reduction Partnership targets and narrow the gap 
between the worst performing wards/neighbourhoods and other 
areas across the district. 

 
 EDUCATION – Raise standards in English, maths, and science 

in secondary education so that by 2008, in all schools located in 
the districts in receipt of NRF, at least 50% of pupils achieve 
level 5 or above in each English, maths and science. 

 
 HEALTH – Reduce premature mortality rates [by x%], and 

reduce inequalities in premature mortality rates between 
wards/neighbourhoods [by x%], with a particular focus on 
reducing the risk factors for heart disease, stroke and related 
diseases (CVD) (smoking, diet and physical activity). x will be 
determined during discussions. 

 

38



 27

 HOUSING – As part of an overall housing strategy for the 
district, improve housing conditions within the most deprived 
neighbourhoods/wards, with a particular focus on ensuring that 
all social housing is made decent by 2010. 

 
 LIVEABILITY – Improve the quality of the local environment by 

reducing the gap in aspects of liveability between the worst 
wards/neighbourhoods and the district as a whole, with a 
particular focus on reducing levels of litter and detritus. 

 
 WORKLESSNESS – For those living in the wards with the worst 

labour market position that are also located within the districts in 
receipt of NRF, significantly improve their overall employment 
rate, and reduce the difference between their employment rate 
and the overall employment rate for England. 

 
Other areas that Agreements may cover 

 
Transport 

 
110. Local transport authorities (outside London) are preparing five 

year plans, which include their transport-related objectives, targets and 
programmes.   Provisional five year plans are due to be submitted to DfT 
in July 2005, with final plans following in March 2006.   The local 
transport plans are required from shire counties and unitary authorities 
(other than CPA excellent authorities, which may elect to produce them).  
One plan is required per former Metropolitan County - involving the 
metropolitan districts and the joint passenger transport authority.   In 
London, boroughs do not produce local transport plans - they do 
produce local implementation plans for the London Mayor in respect of 
local elements of his transport strategy. 

 
111. Mainstream transport capital funding is allocated to authorities 

outside London on the basis of the plans.  Where this transport capital 
has a significant role in delivering the outcomes of the LAA it can be 
included in the LAA and reported on through the LAA. Local authorities 
already have substantial discretion about the selection and level of 
targets to be used for performance management. The Department 
issued guidance to local authorities about Local Transport Plans in 
December 2004. Local Authorities will still need to produce short annual 
progress reports about the delivery of their whole local transport plans. 

 
112. DfT guidance to local authorities indicates that transport plan 

objectives can relate to a wide variety of priorities - including congestion, 
public transport, regeneration, road & community safety, health & fitness 
and a range of environmental issues.  Improving accessibility, 
particularly for the socially excluded, is a major and developing policy 
priority for transport plans, which is closely related to improved outcomes 
for children & young people, health & elderly people and safer & stronger 
communities. 

39



 28

113. Local transport authorities are encouraged to involve 
stakeholders extensively in the development of their local transport 
plans.   A key policy initiative for this new round of plans is the inclusion 
of accessibility strategies - for which daughter guidance has also been 
issued by the Department.   Accessibility planning is a cross-
Government initiative and policy guidance has also been issued by a 
number of other departments to their delivery agencies. 

 
Culture and Sport 

 
114. DCMS funding and priorities fit well with the aims of local area 

agreements. Culture and Sport are integral to the sustainability of a 
local area and can be used to meet a wide range of local needs. 
Culture and sport can contribute to all of the LAA blocks and to 
community wellbeing more generally. These sectors should be seen as 
operating in a cross cutting way across the full range of local 
community priorities. It is for local areas to decide which block is most 
appropriate for outcomes relating to culture and sport.  

 
115. DCMS is keen to encourage the cultural and leisure services to 

think creatively about the way in which they can add value to broader 
community needs and priorities, and for local authorities to be 
imaginative about using culture and sport to address local issues. 

 
116. Non Departmental Public Bodies (NDPBs) such as Big Lottery, 

Arts Council England, Sport England, English Heritage, Museums, 
Libraries and Archives Council (MLA) and others should be engaged in 
discussions over the use of funds and outcomes. Good examples of 
partnership working are emerging from the first phase of pilots. More 
details on these can be found in the toolkit.  

 
Rural areas 
 
117. LAAs provide a good opportunity to deliver the Government’s 

rural policy priorities – to tackle disadvantage and social exclusion in 
rural areas, help underperforming rural economies to begin to catch up 
with the best, and to ensure our natural heritage is protected and 
enhanced. Government is committed to ensure that its policies, 
however they are delivered, reach people and communities in rural 
areas as well as they reach anyone else.  Therefore in an LAA which 
covers an authority with rural areas we would expect to see 
commitments to meeting the needs of those people and communities 
too.  We would expect that rural proofing tools and techniques would 
be used to help highlight particular areas which needed attention and 
that where rurality poses challenges to delivery, the authority would 
seek to find innovative solutions to this - either by developing them 
themselves or by seeking good practice examples from others.  Whilst 
we would not expect by default to see rural outcomes there may be 
areas where rural targets suggest themselves naturally - for example 
in some of Defra's indicator districts for its PSA4. 

40



 29

118. In March 2005, Defra launched a series of rural delivery 
pathfinders to test innovative approaches to delivering rural policy and 
tackling social exclusion at the local level.  These local authority-led 
pathfinders are aimed at promoting local solutions to local problems, 
and at local prioritisation of available resources (delivered through 
multiple funding streams).  They are intended to promote innovative 
delivery arrangements, through strengthened local partnerships, and a 
clearer, joined-up focus on outcomes. There are, therefore, clear 
synergies between the pathfinders and LAAs.  Dorset County Council 
is both a pathfinder and an LAA, and there are other areas where the 
two overlap, providing valuable testing grounds for new arrangements.  
The LAA and pathfinder can fit well together to provide a 
comprehensive approach to rural delivery of mainstream services in 
rural areas.  It will be important to draw greater links between the 
pathfinders as they exist now and rural local delivery in the future to 
ensure that the lessons learned from the pathfinders are shared and 
applied across the country, perhaps through LAAs, when the 
pathfinders come to an end in March 2007. 

 
Environment 

 
119. There are real opportunities to join-up action on the environment 

with actions to promote the social and economic well-being of local 
communities.  Protecting and enhancing our natural resources, and 
ensuring community enjoyment of them, should form an integral part of 
LAAs, whether in urban or rural localities. This may include improving 
local public spaces, protecting local species, helping to tackle climate 
change, waste management, and enabling the community to enjoy 
urban green spaces and/or the local countryside through increased 
access to these areas and maintenance of public rights of way.  

 
120. Defra is keen for local authorities and their partners to think 

about how to build outcomes focussed on the local environment into 
their LAAs, whether through linking environmental issues to other 
outcomes in the four blocks, or in developing cross-cutting or specific 
environmentally-focussed outcomes. Much of the work that local 
authorities and their partners undertake to preserve and enhance the 
local environment is funded through mainstream budgets and NDPBs, 
with a few exceptions such as the Waste Performance and Efficiency 
Grant and the Liveability Fund which are funded by central Government 
and can be pooled.  Other relevant sources of funding might be 
included to support such outcomes.  

 
Areas with low housing demand 

 
121. Some local authorities may be involved in tackling low demand 

as a partner in one of the nine market renewal pathfinder areas 
supported directly by Government grant or in a low demand area 
supported by the Regional Housing Board.  

 

41



 30

122. Market renewal pathfinders aim over the next 10 to 15 years to 
revive failing housing markets and eradicate the problems caused by 
low demand housing.  Because housing markets cross administrative 
boundaries the partnerships are sub-regional, including between two 
and five local authorities.  Housing market strategies, programmes and 
interventions need to be consistent across the local authorities which 
are members of the pathfinder partnership. Government funding goes 
to the partnership, which then makes decisions about housing market 
investment in the different local authority areas. 

 
123. The effectiveness of housing markets is not however entirely 

dependent on housing issues.  Education, jobs, safety and health - for 
example - are also vital issues. Local Area Agreements therefore have 
a strong role to play in complementing and supporting the work of 
pathfinders. And pathfinders should work with their LAAs to ensure that 
strategies are mutually understood and programmes aligned wherever 
possible. 

 
Housing Growth 

 
124. In major housing growth locations, the delivery of the 

infrastructure, services and economic strategy to support that growth 
should underpin outcomes and targets in each of the four LAA blocks.  
These outcomes and targets should be closely tied to the Local 
Development Framework and the Local Delivery Vehicle’s business plan 
(where they exist). 

 
European Funding 
 
125. ODPM is responsible for the overall management of the Objective 

One and Two programmes within England, including the European 
Regional Development Fund (ERDF), which is used for a variety of 
measures for economic development and regeneration. ERDF requires 
match funding and funding from the LAAs pot can be used for this 
purpose.  However, European Funding will remain as a separate funding 
stream and will not form part of the LAA pot, unless programmes are 
operating under formal Action Plans.  This approach, permits 
programmes to align European processes with LAA arrangements, 
without explicitly integrating them, and therefore ensures compliance 
with EC Regulations.   Such an approach would need to be notified to 
ODPM, as the Managing Authority. 

 
Equality and Diversity: Making improvements inclusive 

 
126. Apart from general equality considerations, there are implications 

for LAAs in relation to two aspects of the Race Relations Act 1976 (as 
amended).   

 
127. The majority of bodies involved in LAAs are public bodies, and 

as such, these parties to LAAs have obligations under this Act. 

42



 31

Specifically, whilst undertaking their role as stakeholders in LAAs, they 
need to be mindful of what is known as the General Duty under the Act, 
which is:  (a) to eliminate racial discrimination, (b) to promote equal 
opportunities and (c) to promote good relations between different racial 
groups. LAA partners may want to capitalise on the Agreement process 
to help achieve their General Duty obligations.  

 
128. The Act also requires public bodies to monitor the impact of their 

activities in relation to racial equality where that is relevant. In the 
context of LAAs, partners will need to consider how the delivery of their 
LAA commitments is impacting on different minority groups, e.g. will 
health inequality targets also address differential health outcomes that 
are race related?  

 
Agreement Process 

 
129. The agreement process can be broken down into a number of 

steps. These are set out below, with an indication of when each stage 
should be completed. The intention of these timings is to give areas an 
idea of what will happen by when. More specific milestones can be 
agreed with the relevant Government Office. 

 
Before discussions begin for new LAAs 

 
130. In advance of discussions beginning, both local areas and 

Government Offices will need to do some preparatory work. The first 
step, from a local area perspective, is to engage with all of the relevant 
stakeholders in their area. This work should have started when areas 
were considering whether or not to express interest in taking part in this 
phase of LAAs.  NRF LSPs will have already done some analysis of 
priority outcomes, neighbourhoods and their most disadvantaged 
groups through carrying out performance management self-
assessments. LAAs in these areas should build upon this analysis. 

 
Start of discussions – local areas should aim to make initial submissions to 
Government Offices by end of September 

 
131. Annex B gives a model for the initial submission. Whilst it is not 

necessary for areas to follow this model exactly, they must ensure that 
their submission sets out the necessary information under the headings 
provided. Experience from the pilot was that those areas that 
considered priorities and outcomes first and then looked at what 
funding streams were involved found the process easier than those 
who looked at funding streams first. The LAA toolkit gives more 
information on what local areas should be doing when preparing their 
initial submissions.  

 
Agreements will proceed at different speeds for different areas depending 
on local circumstances. The expectation is that agreements should have 
been completed by end of February 2006  

43



 32

132. Each GO and local area will agree the exact process they will 
follow. The key point is that the final agreement should be clear about 
what outcomes, indicators and targets have been agreed, to what 
timescales; which funding streams are being paid in one payment, and 
which aligned; what freedoms and flexibilities have been agreed.   

 
Sign-off of agreements – these agreements are due to start on 1 April 
2006 the aim will be to have them signed off by Friday 24 March at the 
latest.  

 
133. Final agreements will need to be cleared by Ministers and will be 

signed on behalf of Government by the Minister of Communities and 
Local Government. As with round 1 of LAAs, we would expect the 
Leader of the Local Authority and the Chair of the LSP or another LSP 
representative where appropriate, to sign on behalf of the local area. It 
is for local areas to decide if they want other partners to sign the final 
agreement. 

 
How will disagreements be resolved during discussions ? 

 
134. By definition, LAAs are agreements and all sides therefore need 

to be happy before agreements can be concluded. Where there are 
disagreements, we could expect these to be resolved locally through 
the local authority, LSP and other partners and the GO Regional 
Director. 

 
The Reward Element of Local Area Agreements 

 
135. As this guidance note explains, local areas will negotiate and 

agree with Government Offices a range of outcomes for inclusion in 
their LAA, along with indicators, targets and baselines for each. 

 
136. From among these priorities, an authority will have agreed with 

local partners around 12 priorities for improvement locally, where they 
will deliver measurable stretched performance over the following three 
years in return for the payment of reward grant (formerly the LPSA and 
now to be known as the reward element of the LAA). The reward is 
only related to these stretch targets, and not to the whole LAA. 

 
137. The authority will need to reach agreement with the GO on the 

selection of these priorities for improvement, and the indicators by 
which progress will be measured.  The authority and the GO will then 
negotiate the amount of enhanced or “stretched” performance which 
will be delivered over the next three years in order to receive 
performance reward grant.  

 
138. Authorities will continue to receive a Pump Priming Grant to 

invest in achievement of the stretch targets, and also to negotiate 
specific freedoms and flexibilities with the Government Offices to aid 
achievement. 

44



 33

Fundamental principles 
 

139. There are several elements that are fundamental to the 
negotiation of the reward element of LAAs:    

 
 The performance reward must be paid on the most important 

priorities for improvement locally. 
 

 Reward targets should achieve significant improvements which 
local people would reasonably expect from public services. 

 
 Government and Local Authorities must agree that the “with 

reward” performance is genuinely stretching over the three year 
life of the LAA. 

 
 Target areas and levels must provide suitable value for money.  

 
140. The outcomes framework in Annex D provides a menu of 

indicators which are suitable for reward grant.  This includes all 
indicators previously negotiated in LPSAs. Areas are free to develop 
new indicators for reward in discussion with the GO.  

 
Negotiating the Reward Element 
 
141. In negotiating the reward element, Government Offices and 

authorities must agree the baseline current performance on the 
measures they plan to use. From this, they should agree the level of 
performance that would be expected normally during the LAA without 
the intended action to achieve a stretched outcome. Finally, they 
should agree the level of stretched performance that may occur as a 
result of such action. 

 
142. GOs and authorities will need to agree the methodology by 

which stretched performance is to be identified and measured for each 
individual target. In some cases this may be by reference to national 
trend comparator data, and in others by reference to percentage 
increases in performance or increases expressed in absolute/actual 
numbers. 

 
143. ODPM is interested in exploring further a possible mechanism 

for negotiating an individual authority’s stretched performance by 
reference to the relative performance of local authorities/areas 
nationally, as reported by BVPIs. For services where the data was 
available, an authority’s current and projected positions in national 
performance tables would be used to set baselines and unstretched 
targets; and stretch might then be set according to the percentage rise 
up the rankings an authority was additionally able to achieve. The aim 
would be to devise a model which could be applied consistently across 
negotiations.  

 

45



 34

Review of the Reward Element 
 

144. A number of changes are being introduced to the negotiation of 
the reward element to ensure that the programme continues to achieve 
the aims and principles set out above.    

 
Indicators 

 
145. The Government is adopting a more pragmatic approach to the 

type of measurable indicators that can be used to attract reward grant. 
The Government has accepted that – where it is impossible to measure 
outcomes at the local level, or where changes would not be evident 
over the three-year timescale of the reward element – proxy indicators 
may be included within the outcomes. Areas should continue to clearly 
articulate the desired outcomes and demonstrate a plausible link 
between the proxy measures being proposed and those outcomes. 
Annex D contains a list of indicators drawn from existing national PSAs, 
local PSAs and LAAs that could be eligible for reward grant if 
associated with a satisfactory level of stretch. Some indicators, for 
example reducing the number of looked after children or reducing the 
number of re-registrations on the Child Protection Register, could 
potentially create a perverse incentive and should not therefore be 
included. This can be discussed during the negotiation of the reward 
element. Further advice will be available during discussions for specific 
policy areas such as anti-social behaviour, community cohesion and 
stronger communities. Areas are still free to suggest their own 
indicators outside this framework where they meet the requirements 
above. 

 
Variable Performance Reward Grant (PRG) 

 
146. LPSA2 guidance allows for different proportions of PRG to be 

paid for different stretched targets in certain circumstances within the 
same overall amount of PRG per authority. This will be more readily 
available for future negotiations. 

 
147. In seeking a higher level of PRG for certain targets, a local 

authority would need to clearly demonstrate to the GO why those 
targets are particularly challenging ones to achieve stretch on or how 
the authority was proposing a major step change in their approach to 
these service areas and therefore why extra PRG was justified. 

 
148. ODPM are interested in testing the extent to which an extra 

freedom, related to earlier payments of performance reward grant could 
help authorities make bigger (and earlier) improvements in service 
delivery. Local authorities in the second phase of LAAs who are rated 
“excellent” and are interested in this should discuss it with their 
Government Office at an early stage. The freedom would, where 
granted, be subject to controls including the clawback of “unearned” 
grant. 

46



 35

Pump Priming Grant (PPG) 
 

149. At present, authorities are given all their PPG in one lump sum, 
in the financial year in which their LPSA is signed.  The PPG is 
intended to help them review the services in the LPSA so that stretch is 
achieved over the three years.   Authorities can distribute this money 
between targets as they wish and can spend it across the three years 
as they wish. It is also non-refundable, and Central Government 
doesn’t examine how this money is spent.   

 
150. PPG will be paid at the same time as the first instalment of LAA 

pooled funding – i.e. at the end of April, 2006. 
 

Implications of policy changes for the live LPSAs 
 

151. Any targets in the current 63 stand alone LPSAs which have 
been agreed between an authority and Government Departments by 22 
June will not be reopened.  But where targets have not yet been 
agreed, authorities may use the list of indicators in Annex D to consider 
their options for the remainder.  

 
Freedoms and Flexibilities  

 
152. There are a number of significant freedoms and flexibilities that 

all areas receive as a result of having a LAA. These are listed at Annex 
C. In order to overcome potential specific obstacles to the delivery of 
LAA outcomes and targets, areas may suggest individual freedoms and 
flexibilities from Government. As with LPSAs, this is most specifically 
the case for targets attracting the reward element. Annex C contains a 
selection of additional freedoms and flexibilities that were granted to 
some areas in the pilot LAAs. 

 
153. Whilst freedoms and flexibilities are not the main focus of LAAs, 

should local areas identify any freedoms that would enable them to 
improve the delivery of services – and particularly for specific changes 
to enable the attainment of targets attracting the reward element - the 
LAA offers them an opportunity to put these forward. In considering 
freedoms, there are a number of issues local areas need to consider. 
These are set out in detail in the LAA toolkit.  

 
Funding Streams   

 
154. There are three types of funding that can be used towards the 

achievement of the outcomes agreed in an LAA: 
 

 Area specific funding allocated and distributed direct to the area 
by a Government Department.  

 
 Mainstream funding, such as RSG, Police, NHS, PCT and 

Schools funding.  

47



 36

 Funding to NDPBs such as RDAs, Big Lottery, Sport England 
and Learning and Skills Council. 

 
155. The area specific funding can be pooled centrally, i.e. grouped 

together and paid to the local authority, as the accountable body, in a 
single payment. For funding paid in this way, the freedoms in relation to 
performance and financial management and payment set out in this 
guidance apply. For any area based initiatives included in the 
agreement but not pooled centrally, any relaxations in monitoring and 
reporting arrangements will need to be agreed locally during the 
discussion of the agreement. 

 
156. Clearly it will not be possible to achieve many of the outcomes in 

the LAA without using mainstream funding. So mainstream funding can 
be aligned with LAA funding locally. If agreed with all relevant partners 
there may be some relaxations in the performance and financial 
management arrangements for this funding. 

 
157. NDPB funding can not be centrally pooled as it has already been 

allocated to the relevant body. It can however be pooled locally i.e. paid 
by the NDPB, at their discretion, to the local authority as the 
accountable body as part of the agreement, though for some NDPBs, 
this may need to be as a contract for specific services. Alternatively, as 
with mainstream funding, it can be aligned. There may be conditions 
applying to NDPB funding that need to be respected, Again, any 
relaxations in existing performance and financial management 
arrangements can de discussed during the discussion of the 
agreement. 

 
158. A list of funding streams that can be pooled centrally in any LAA 

subject to the agreement of satisfactory outcomes is at Annex A. In 
practice this means that there is no principled objection to including 
these funding streams and so discussions can concentrate on what 
outcomes will be delivered by including the funding stream. There are 
some funding streams that cannot be included in a single payment. 
This list has been arrived at after discussion with Ministers. These too 
are listed at Annex A so local areas are clear from the start what is 
possible. Funding streams that do not appear on either of these lists 
can be proposed by local areas and may be included subject to 
agreement of the terms under which they are included.  

 
159. In addition there are some funding streams that may be included 

in some areas subject to specific criteria being met. These funding 
streams and the relevant criteria are set out below. 

 
160. Sure Start – Sure Start is critical for delivering the Government's 

commitments on early years and childcare, recently announced in 
'Choice for parents, the best start for children: a ten year strategy for 
childcare'.  The following conditions will need to apply where Sure 
Start, which is subject to national ring fence, are included. 

48



 37

 
161. The negotiation and refresh of LAAs will need to reflect the 

following points to ensure that the set of parameters and conditions 
surrounding the inclusion of Sure Start is still appropriate and fit for 
purpose: 

 
• The publication of DfES’ upcoming Early Years Bill; 

• Lessons learned from the National Evaluation of Sure Start; 

• Forthcoming Sure Start Children’s Centre guidance 

 
 LAAs will be monitored on performance against the range of 

Sure Start indicators and objectives. If local authority decisions 
on the allocation of funding or if performance falls below 
acceptable levels, sanctions will be imposed as appropriate, 
including, if necessary, the re-introduction of the Sure Start ring-
fence. 

 
 The six monthly monitoring, for those areas pooling Sure Start, 

will need to identify spend on Sure Start Local Programmes and 
spend on children's centres. In order not to compromise the 
National Evaluation, SSLPs should continue to keep financial 
information in the F10 format. 

 
 All Sure Start capital funding and Sure Start funding for pilot 

initiatives will not be considered for inclusion in LAAs due to 
disruption to existing programmes and evaluation.   

 
 Where General Sure Start Grant funding is included the 

following mandatory indicators should be included within the 
LAA, in addition to any indicators/parameters that are 
established as a result of the measures in paragraph 161: 

 
• the stock of childcare places in disadvantaged and other 

areas (to secure sufficient supply to meet the needs of 
families and develop a sustainable market); 

• number of children’s centres operational. 
 

 Where Sure Start local programme funding is included, local 
authorities are asked to monitor and report progress annually on 
the following key indicators to continue to enable comparison of 
the success of their programmes against the national picture 
and identify any local problems in delivery: 

 
• Number and proportion of mothers in Sure Start local 

programme areas who continue to smoke during pregnancy. 
• Number of mothers in Sure Start local programme areas 

breastfeeding at 6 weeks. 

49



 38

• Percentage of families in Sure Start local programme areas 
with new babies visited in first 2 months of their babies’ life 
and given information about the services and support 
available to them. 

• Any additional indicators/parameters that emerge as a result 
of the measures in paragraph 161. 

 
DfES will also be monitoring the following key indicators.  
However, there is no need for local areas to report these data as 
they are available from other sources e.g. Ofsted, surveys, 
evaluations: 
 
• Number of integrated early education and childcare places 

available for children aged 4 and under, and this number as 
a proportion of all childcare places.  

• Number and proportion of leaders of integrated early 
education and childcare settings with a qualification of level 4 
or above in the National Qualifications Framework (those 
with QTS to be identified separately). 

• Proportion of 3 and 4 year olds with special educational 
needs and disabilities who are, with appropriate support, 
attending funded early years settings. 

• Annual turnover of Ofsted-registered full daycare providers, 
out of school clubs and childminders (annual turnover is the 
number of closures as a % of the average number of 
providers during the year). 

 
162. Drugs Intervention Programme (DIP): The following will apply in 

relation to DIP funding and LAAs: 
 

 Funding for drug testing costs will be met centrally and will not 
be available for inclusion in a LAA; 
 Criminal Justice Integrated Team funding will also not be 

available for inclusion in a LAA because of the absolute 
imperative of increasing the drugs workforce to meet new 
statutory obligations in the Drugs Act 2005;  
 Throughcare and aftercare and capacity building elements of the 

DIP Main Grant are provided for the delivery of specific 
objectives. Those objectives are set out in guidance and referred 
to in the terms and conditions of the grants paid to partnerships 
in 2005/06. 
 Where the two funding steams (mentioned immediately above) 

are considered for an LAA, local targets focussed on the 
objectives and outcomes of the DIP, as set out in the terms and 
conditions mentioned above, will need to be agreed in advance. 

 
163. Wherever any aspects of the Drug Interventions Programme 

funding are in LAAs, that must be accompanied by a statement that the 
compact objectives (in DIP intensive areas) and expectations that are 
contained in the terms and conditions of DIP allocations (to intensive 

50



 39

and non-intensive DIP areas) must be met and complied with before 
any other activities can be funded. 
 

164. There can be no reduction in the reporting and data 
management arrangements that have already been agreed as part of 
the Drug Interventions Programme, this information is the minimum 
necessary to monitor the effectiveness of this programme.  

 
165. Youth Intervention Programme (YIP) - Four LAA pilot areas have 

been established to pilot increased freedoms and flexibilities in the 
delivery of Youth Inclusion Programmes. These pilots will be the 
subject of ongoing evaluation. As such all other mainstream crime 
prevention funding from the Youth Justice Board (YJB) will not be 
subject to inclusion in LAA’s. The YJB, Home Office and DfES are 
currently examining ways to ensure crime prevention to Youth 
Offending Teams meets the principles outlined in both LAA’s and the 
draft Youth Green Paper. 

 
166. PCTs will be able to negotiate with local partners about the 

inclusion of mainstream baseline health funding as part of the 
development of the LAA and the LDP. 

 
167. Children’s Fund – Children’s Fund can be included in LAAs with 

the written sign up of the Children's Fund partnership.  Any existing 
long-term contracts let by the Children's Fund partnership with 
providers in accordance with existing approved plans, should be 
honoured.  The LAA proposal should also outline how the focus on 
prevention will be maintained and developed through the LAA and how 
activities, especially youth crime prevention work currently supported 
through the Children’s Fund, contribute to outcomes across the LAA 
blocks (in particular the safer and stronger communities block).  The six 
monthly monitoring must include the amount spent on preventative 
services (tiers 2 & 3) for 5-13 year olds. 

 
168. Supporting People – Officials will consider on a case by case 

basis bids from local areas to include Supporting People funding in the 
LAA.  Final agreement to the inclusion of SP funding will be subject to 
reaching agreement on the outcomes to be achieved. 

 
169. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAHMS) – The 

CAMHS Grant may be included in LAAs where it has been established 
that the local area will use CAMHS Grant funding in a way that is 
consistent with the objectives as set out in the CAMHS Grant Circular. 

 
170. Pooled Treatment Budget – Inclusion of the Pooled Treatment 

Budget for substance misuse (part of PCT funding) within LAAs is 
possible, provided: 

 
 This is agreed with local Drug Action Team Partners 

51



 40

 It results in agreed improved outcomes locally for drug treatment 
concerning increased numbers in treatment and more effective 
treatment (by reference to those discharged during the financial 
year who are retained in treatment for 12 weeks or more). 
Improved outcomes will need to be agreed with the National 
Treatment Agency. 

 
171. Safety Camera Partnerships – Whilst these can be aligned in 

LAAs, there will be no relaxation in the hypothecation arrangements to 
avoid fostering any perception or possibility that speed enforcement 
cameras would be deployed as general revenue earning devices. 

 
172. Connexions – to be included subject to Connexions 

partnerships’ joint agreement to include their funds and the involvement 
of Connexions Business Managers in the discussion process so that 
Connexions plans are properly reflected in LAAs (responsibility for 
meeting the existing statutory requirements for information, advice and 
guidance which currently apply to Connexions Partnerships will transfer 
to the local authority/LSP/children's trust).  There is a mandatory target 
for 16-18 year olds not in education, employment or training.  Individual 
discussions should also consider the contribution Connexions makes to 
additional targets or indicators around the under 18 conception rate, 
school attendance, attainment pre and post 16, care leavers, young 
offenders and young people with a substance misuse problem.   

 
173. GOs and Connexions Business Managers will want to be 

assured that local areas have in place a robust client management 
system that meets the Connexions Customer Information System 
(CCIS) to ensure national consistency to collate and track progress on 
a monthly basis, that the Connexions brand (including Connexions 
Direct) continues to be used and that any changes to local delivery aim 
to promote greater market contestability. 

 
174. Positive  Activities for Young People (PAYP) – to be included 

subject to the funding for Key Workers remaining routed through 
Connexions Partnerships and migrating with Connexions Partnerships 
to LAAs. The PAYP funding formula will be revisited to align with LAAs 
and establish a new balance between funding for activities (which will 
be included in LAA budgets) and Key Workers (through Connexions 
Partnerships) in light of the overall PAYP budget being reduction in 
2006-07. 

 
175. The Neighbourhood Support Fund is to be made available to 

LAAs from April 2006. The programme aim is to reengage disaffected 
13-19 year olds back into education, training or employment. It is seen 
as a key NEETs intervention programme. Funding covers 40 of the 
most deprived local authority areas. All of these areas are covered by 
the proposed LAA areas. It is currently delivered via the voluntary 
community sector. 

 

52



 41

176. Standards Fund - The local authority retained element of the 
new amalgamated single Standards Fund grant (comprising non-
targeted grants to schools) will be available for inclusion where the 
funding continues to support schools. Where the Key Stage 3 
Behaviour and Attendance Central Coordination Funding element is 
pooled, this must be used for the employment of a KS3 B&A 
consultant.  

 
177. Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and Section 16 Tenant 

Empowerment Grant - ODPM are happy in principle to consider the 
inclusion of these funding streams and will do so on a case by case 
basis depending on the outcomes local areas are offering as a result of 
their inclusion. With respect to disabled facilities grant a final decision 
on whether to dispense with the ring-fenced specific grant will depend 
on decisions taken nationally following the DFG Review. 

 
Mainstream Funding 

 
178. As stated above, partners will want to develop their strategies for 

using mainstream funding in a more effective way to help achieve the 
overall outcomes set out in the agreement.  

 
Payment Systems 

 
179. Building on the pooled payments made to pilots, for 2006/07 we 

are aiming to develop a payment system where LAA pooled funding, 
across the whole agreement will be made in a single payment to the 
local authority as the Accountable Body, probably monthly in arrears. 
Local authorities, as the accountable body, will wish to ensure that 
bodies such as the VCS are not disadvantaged by payments in arrears. 
There is no longer any requirement to submit claim forms, instead 
Chief Financial Officers must certify spend. We will keep areas 
informed of progress on the development of this system. 

 
Support  

 
180. There will be Government Office, ODPM, LGA and IDeA support 

available prior to, during and after negotiations. Details of this support 
are given in the LAA Toolkit.  

53



 42

ANNEX A - FUNDING STREAMS  
 
Funding Streams that can be centrally pooled in any LAA subject to the 
agreement of satisfactory outcomes.  
 

Children and Young People 
Adoption Support and Special 
Guardianship 
Carers Grant 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services 
Children’s Fund 
Choice Protects 
Community Support Grant 
Communities for Health Monies 
Connexions 
Education Health Partnerships  
Extended Schools (Standards Fund) 
Kerbcraft 
Key Stage 3 – Behaviour and 
Attendance 
Key Stage 3 - Central Coordination 
LEA Support for Workforce Re-
modelling  
LPSA reward grant  
 
Note: Funding streams are subject to 
change in 2006/07 in line with the 
Government’s commitment to funding 
rationalisation for local areas. Details of 
this will be covered during discussion 
of the agreement. 

National Training Strategy 
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund 
Neighbourhood Road Safety Initiative 
Neighbourhood Support Fund 
Positive Activities for Young People 
Primary Strategy Central Coordination 
General Sure Start Grant (revenue) 
Sure Start Local Programmes (revenue) 
Teenage Pregnancy 
Transforming Youth Work Performance 
Improvement Fund 
Vocational and Work Related Learning – 
funds are paid through Government 
Offices 
Vulnerable Children Grant  
Partnership Grant 
School Travel Plans 
Standards Fund – local authority retained 
element of new amalgamated single 
grant.  
 

Healthier Communities and Older People 
Disabled Facilities Grant 
Falls Prevention 
HaSCIE 
Healthy Living Centre  
Learning Disabilities 
LPSA reward grant 
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund 
Pension Partnership Fund 
Physical & Sensory Depravation 

Preserved Rights Grant 
Relevant European funding 
Residential Allowance Grant 
Supporting People 
Targeted Voluntary Sector Funding 
(Social Services) 
Training support Grant 

Safer and Stronger Communities 
Safer and Stronger Communities 
Fund – includes where applicable: 
Anti-Social Behaviour Grant 
Building Safer Communities 
Domestic Violence Grant 
Drugs Strategy Partnership Grant 

Drug Prevention & Treatment 
Drugs Intervention Programme 
Home Fire Risk Check Initiative 
LPSA reward grant 
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund 
Rural Bus Subsidy 

54



 43

HO Regional Director’s Allocation 
Business Crime Reduction Advisor 
Grant 
Tackling Violent Crime Programme 
Neighbourhood Management Pathfinder 
Neighbourhood Element 
Cleaner, Safer, Greener Element 
(liveability funding) 
Other funding streams 
ASB Action Area 
Aggregates Levy Sustainability Fund 
Anti-Social Behaviour Trailblazer 

Section 16 Tenant Empowerment Grant 
Single Community Programme Fund 
Spearhead Monies 
Street Scene (Mainstream Budget) 
Tenant Empowerment Grant 
Waste Performance and Efficiency 
Grant 

Economic Development and Enterprise 
Local Enterprise Growth Initiative(LEGI)  
Neighbourhood Renewal Fund can now be included in the LAA as a pooled 
funding stream. It can be used within the four blocks and to tackle cross-
cutting issues affecting the most deprived neighbourhoods. Areas in receipt of 
NRF must include the 6 mandatory neighbourhood renewal outcomes in their 
LAA. 
Sure Start: Guidance on Sure Start will be published shortly 
 
Funds that can be pooled or aligned locally  
Big Lottery Funding 
Communities for Health 
PE and School Sportclub Link 
Sport England/Active England 
Learning and Skills Council 
ChangeUp 
Elements of LSC funding 
Mainstream Support for Local Transport  
NHS Funding 
Capital, highways maintenance and bus 
support 
Kickstart/bus challenge projects 

Arts Council England Managed Funds 
English Heritage Historic Areas Grant 
Renaissance in the Regions (Museums 
Funding) 
Pooled Treatment Budget 
RDA single pot 
Rural Pathfinders Funding Sources 
Waste Resource and Action Programme 
Safety Camera Partnerships 

 
Funding Streams that can not be pooled in an LAA   
Direct Schools’ Funding 
Millennium Volunteers 
Community Champions Fund 
School Meals 
Specific capital funding streams not 
allocated through the Single Capital 
Pot e.g. Building Schools for the 
Future 
Asylum Seekers Support Grant 

Local Network Fund 
Playing for Success 
LEA Music Services 
Police Funding 
YJB Funding to Youth Offending Teams 
DWP Benefits 
Young Peoples Substance Misuse 
Partnership Grant 

 

55



 44

ANNEX B - POSSIBLE MODEL FOR A LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 
 
Scene setting, local context for the LAA 
 
The first section of an LAA gives the local area the opportunity to set out the 
priorities, both national and local for their agreement. It will need to include 
details of who is involved in the partnership and set out brief details of how the 
partnership will operate; it will need to set out what performance monitoring 
and management arrangements are in place, including details of which 
partners are responsible for delivering what; it will need to include details of 
how local people and the VCS are involved in the design and delivery of the 
LAA; it will need to explain why funding streams  are being proposed for 
inclusion; finally it will need to set out the reasoning behind the requests for 
freedoms and flexibilities with reference to the F and Fs section of this 
guidance. Where government funding is targeted at a specific neighbourhood 
(e.g. NRF and in the SSCF), the funding streams, outcomes, indicators and 
shared assumptions for that particular neighbourhood will need to be 
specified.  Areas may like to bring this together with their local community 
strategies and, where relevant, their local Neighbourhood Renewal Strategies.   
 
Template: For each block, Children and Young People, Safer and Stronger 
Communities, Healthier Communities and Older People and Economic 
Development and Enterprise the following information must be provided.  
  
BLOCK:  Title 
Outcomes Proposed: including those chosen for reward 
Indicators and targets for each outcome: including those proposed for reward 
and the proposed level of stretch 
Shared Assumption such as passporting of funding to district councils, VCS 
etc or other special conditions agreed during negotiations 
Funding Streams Requested: This will need to include details of allocations to 
the area for each funding stream by financial year from 2005/06 onwards 
 
Example 
 
Block: Children and Young People 
Outcomes to be delivered across the block 
Indicators associated with each outcome with targets set for each of the three 
years of the agreement 
Shared Assumption such as passporting of funding to district councils, VCS 
etc or other special conditions agreed during negotiations 

Allocation Funding Streams Requested 

2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 

Funding Stream x £xm £ym £zm 
Funding Stream y £xm £ym £zm 
 

56



 45

ANNEX C – FREEDOMS AND FLEXIBILITIES FOR LAAS 
 
CORE LIST OF FREEDOMS AND FLEXIBILITIES THE AREA WILL 
AUTOMATICALLY GET AS A RESULT OF HAVING AN LAA: 
 

• Ability to pool funds from central government 
• Flexibility to carry over a reasonable level of unspent resources from 

one financial year to another. Any funding rolled over still needs to be 
spent in support of outcomes included in the Agreement.  

• Where areas deliver agreed outcomes more efficiently they can invest 
any savings in delivering the objectives of the LAA.  

• Reduction in the monitoring and reporting requirements. 
• Freedom to vire or combine some mainstream funding between 

organisations to meet shared LAA outcomes. 
• Streamlined payment mechanisms, including removing the need to 

submit claims forms.   
 
LIST OF FREEDOMS AND FLEXIBILITIES AGREED AS PART OF PILOT  
 

• DTI funds – local responsibility for managing and monitoring in line with 
Derby City Partnership systems and practices as approved and agreed 
by East Midlands Development Agency (EMDA) in the annual action 
and delivery plans, in particular in relation to EMDA and sub-regional 
strategic partnership.  This has been agreed in principle subject to 
further detail being finalised. 

 
• An increased limit for automatic approval for neighbourhood 

management pilot projects. 
 

• Freedom to concentrate on hot spot areas of crime and disorder 
ensuring account is also taken of the needs existing within low crime 
areas.  

 
• Support of a capacity-building project including secondment of an Audit 

Commission or other inspectorate performance expert to develop with 
Dorset a partnership performance management framework and feed in 
to future inspection practices.  

 
• Invest to Save bid on VCS involvement in health – request to align with 

LAA approved subject to outcome of bidding round and return of 
unspent funds.  

 
• Flexible models of delivery of children’s centres to reflect the rural 

context.  
 

• Increased flexibility in use of funds within the health and social care 
systems in the NHS towards preventative care for older people.  
Agreed in principle by DH, with details to be worked up by partners by 
September. 

57



 46

• Local Planning Authorities & Suffolk CC to work together utilising the 
new development planning system, with advice from Go-East, to plan 
positively to meet the need for childcare places in Suffolk.  

 
• Drug Intervention Programme funding included in LAAs, but as this is a 

new scheme and a government priority, the 2005/06 funding will 
continue to be ring fenced within the LAA pool, enabling the DIP 
scheme to be established.  

 
• Freedom, granted on a case by case basis, to extend age range and 

geographical boundaries of Sure Start local programmes.  
 

• Greater flexibility to determine how to contribute locally to delivery of 
NHS targets and still be fully accountable. 

 
• Freedoms to use the Local Enhanced Service scheme to pay workers 

other than GPs to deliver services in primary care for example health 
visitors or lay workers to deliver smoking cessation. 

 
• Flexibility in arrangements to reimburse fares/costs to enable travel for 

treatment in community as well as hospital settings. 
 

• Practice based commissioning to be utilised across the health and 
social care community. 

 
• Pooling of funds to create Local Partnership Teams (SSCF) Agreed 

with South Yorkshire Police  
 

• Permission to jointly brand the intended local integrated financial 
assessments and benefits visiting service with The Pension Service.  

 
 

58



 
47

 

A
N

N
EX

 D
 –

 L
A

A
 O

U
TC

O
M

E 
FR

A
M

EW
O

R
K

  
TA

B
LE

 1
 - 

C
H

IL
D

R
EN

 A
N

D
 Y

O
U

N
G

 P
EO

PL
E 

B
LO

C
K

 (A
 d

ia
gr

am
 s

et
tin

g 
ou

t a
ll 

of
 th

e 
C

ha
ng

e 
fo

r 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

ou
tc

om
es

 a
nd

 a
im

s 
ca

n 
be

 fo
un

d 
at

: h
ttp

://
w

w
w

.e
ve

ry
ch

ild
m

at
te

rs
.g

ov
.u

k/
ai

m
s/

ou
tc

om
es

 

PO
SS

IB
LE

 L
A

A
 O

U
TC

O
M

ES
  

PO
SS

IB
LE

 L
A

A
 IN

D
IC

A
TO

R
S 

 
S

ta
y 

sa
fe

 
 

N
um

be
r o

f 0
-1

5 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

ki
lle

d 
or

 in
ju

re
d 

in
 ro

ad
 tr

af
fic

 a
cc

id
en

ts
 

 
N

um
be

r o
f r

e-
re

gi
st

ra
tio

ns
 o

n 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
re

gi
st

er
  

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 u
nd

er
 1

6s
 w

ho
 h

av
e 

be
en

 lo
ok

ed
 a

fte
r f

or
 2

.5
 o

r m
or

e 
ye

ar
s 

liv
in

g 
in

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
pl

ac
em

en
t f

or
 a

t l
ea

st
 2

 y
ea

rs
 o

r a
re

 p
la

ce
d 

fo
r a

do
pt

io
n 

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 c

ar
e 

ca
se

s 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 in
 th

e 
co

ur
ts

 w
ith

in
 4

0 
w

ee
ks

  
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 1

1 
to

 1
5 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
w

ho
 s

ta
te

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
be

en
 b

ul
lie

d 
 

Fe
ar

 o
f c

rim
e 

an
d 

an
ti-

so
ci

al
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 
B

e 
H

ea
lth

y 
 

U
nd

er
 1

8 
co

nc
ep

tio
n 

ra
te

  
 

In
ci

de
nc

e 
of

 o
be

si
ty

 a
m

on
g 

ch
ild

re
n 

un
de

r 1
1 

 
In

fa
nt

 m
or

ta
lit

y 
ra

te
 

 
D

ea
th

 ra
te

 fr
om

 s
ui

ci
de

 a
nd

 u
nd

et
er

m
in

ed
 in

ju
ry

 
 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 C

A
M

H
S

 
 

A
ve

ra
ge

 a
lc

oh
ol

 c
on

su
m

pt
io

n 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

w
ho

 a
re

 re
gu

la
r s

m
ok

er
s 

 
D

ia
gn

os
tic

 ra
te

 o
f n

ew
 e

pi
so

de
s 

of
 S

TI
s 

am
on

g 
U

16
 a

nd
 1

6-
19

 y
ea

r o
ld

s 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

co
ns

um
in

g 
5 

po
rti

on
s 

of
 fr

ui
t a

nd
 v

eg
et

ab
le

s 
a 

da
y 

 
H

ar
m

 c
au

se
d 

by
 il

le
ga

l d
ru

gs
 

 
Th

e 
pe

rc
en

ta
ge

 o
f 

5-
16

  
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tin
g 

in
 a

 m
in

im
um

 o
f 

2 
ho

ur
s 

ea
ch

 
w

ee
k 

on
 P

E
 a

nd
 s

ch
oo

l s
po

rt,
 w

ith
in

 a
nd

 o
ut

si
de

 o
f s

ch
oo

l, 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 a

nd
 q

ua
nt

ity
 o

f s
po

rti
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
in

 s
ch

oo
l a

nd
 s

tro
ng

 li
nk

s 
w

ith
 

sp
or

ts
 c

lu
bs

* 
 

N
um

be
rs

 o
f f

am
ilie

s 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

pl
ac

ed
 in

 te
m

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
un

de
r t

he
 

ho
m

el
es

sn
es

s 
le

gi
sl

at
io

n/
ag

gr
eg

at
e 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 d

ay
s 

sp
en

t 
by

 f
am

ilie
s 

w
ith

 
ch

ild
re

n 
in

 te
m

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n.
* 

Th
e 

pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

in
g 

in
 a

t 
le

as
t 

1 
ho

ur
 o

f 
m

od
er

at
e 

59



 
48

 

in
te

ns
ity

 s
po

rt 
an

d 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

ity
 d

ai
ly

 e
ac

h 
w

ee
k 

* 
 

S
m

ok
in

g 
du

rin
g 

pr
eg

na
nc

y*
  

 
B

re
as

tfe
ed

in
g 

in
iti

at
io

n 
ra

te
s*

  
 

A
va

ila
bi

lit
y 

of
 s

af
e 

pl
ay

 a
re

as
 a

nd
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s*

 
 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r l
oo

ke
d 

af
te

r c
hi

ld
re

n*
 

 
N

E
E

T 
ta

rg
et

 fo
r t

ee
na

ge
 p

ar
en

ts
* 

E
nj

oy
 a

nd
 A

ch
ie

ve
 

It 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

no
te

d 
th

at
 a

ll 
of

 t
he

se
 

in
di

ca
to

rs
 c

an
 b

e 
ap

pl
ie

d 
to

 s
pe

ci
fic

 
gr

ou
ps

 
su

ch
 

as
 

Lo
ok

ed
 

A
fte

r 
C

hi
ld

re
n,

 B
M

E
s 

et
c 

 

 
H

al
f d

ay
s 

m
is

se
d 

th
ro

ug
h 

ab
se

nc
e 

 
Le

ve
l 

of
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

re
ac

he
d 

at
 t

he
 e

nd
 o

f 
th

e 
fo

un
da

tio
n 

st
ag

e,
 i

nc
lu

di
ng

 
na

rro
w

in
g 

th
e 

ga
p 

in
 th

e 
20

%
 m

os
t d

is
ad

va
nt

ag
ed

 a
re

as
  

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 7
 y

ea
r o

ld
s 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
at

 le
as

t l
ev

el
 2

 a
t K

ey
 S

ta
ge

 1
  

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 1
1 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
ac

hi
ev

in
g 

le
ve

l 4
 in

 E
ng

lis
h 

an
d 

M
at

hs
  

 
E

du
ca

tio
na

l a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

t o
f 1

1 
ye

ar
 o

ld
 lo

ok
ed

 a
fte

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 th

ei
r 

pe
er

s 
 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 1
4 

ye
ar

 o
ld

s 
ac

hi
ev

in
g 

at
 le

as
t l

ev
el

 5
 in

 E
ng

lis
h,

 M
at

hs
, S

ci
en

ce
 

an
d 

IC
T 

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 1

6 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

 o
f 5

 A
*-

C
 G

C
S

E
  

 
E

du
ca

tio
na

l a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

t o
f 1

6 
ye

ar
 o

ld
 lo

ok
ed

 a
fte

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
co

m
pa

re
d 

to
 th

ei
r 

pe
er

s 
 

Ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 s

po
rti

ng
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

by
 5

-1
6 

ye
ar

  o
ld

s 
 

Ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 c

ul
tu

ra
l9  a

nd
 s

po
rti

ng
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

am
on

g 
ov

er
 1

6 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s.

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 y

ou
ng

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
at

ta
in

in
g 

pr
e-

sc
ho

ol
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 o
f 

co
m

pe
te

nc
e 

(P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
po

in
t 6

 (g
oo

d)
 le

ve
ls

 o
f a

tta
in

m
en

t i
n 

P
S

E
D

 a
t 

th
e 

en
d 

of
 th

e 
Fo

un
da

tio
n 

S
ta

ge
, a

nd
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ac

hi
ev

in
g 

po
in

t 6
 

(g
oo

d)
 le

ve
ls

 o
f a

tta
in

m
en

t i
n 

C
LL

 a
t t

he
 e

nd
 o

f t
he

 F
ou

nd
at

io
n 

S
ta

ge
)*

  
N

um
be

r 
an

d 
qu

al
ity

 o
f 

ed
uc

at
io

na
l o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

fo
r 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 b

y 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
9  C

ul
tu

re
 in

cl
ud

es
 s

uc
h 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 a
s 

ar
ts

, s
po

rts
, l

ib
ra

rie
s,

 m
us

eu
m

s,
 h

er
ita

ge
, a

rc
ha

eo
lo

gy
, a

rc
hi

ve
s,

 a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e,
 c

ra
fts

, c
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

pl
ay

, r
ea

di
ng

, p
ar

ks
, 

to
ur

is
m

, c
ou

nt
ry

si
de

 re
cr

ea
tio

n 
et

c.
 O

th
er

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 s

uc
h 

as
 e

nt
er

ta
in

m
en

ts
, d

es
ig

n,
 fa

sh
io

n,
 fo

od
, m

ed
ia

, v
is

iti
ng

 a
ttr

ac
tio

ns
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 in
fo

rm
al

 le
is

ur
e 

pu
rs

ui
ts

 w
ill

 a
ls

o 
be

 a
 p

ar
t o

f a
t l

ea
st

 s
om

e 
lo

ca
l s

tra
te

gi
es

. 
 

60



 
49

 

ar
ts

 
or

ga
ni

sa
tio

n,
 

ar
ch

ite
ct

ur
e 

an
d 

he
rit

ag
e 

bo
di

es
, 

sp
or

ts
 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
ns

, 
m

us
eu

m
s 

an
d 

ga
lle

rie
s 

pa
rti

cu
la

rly
 in

 d
ep

riv
ed

 a
re

as
*  

 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

nu
m

be
rs

 o
f s

ch
oo

l v
is

its
 to

 h
is

to
ric

 a
nd

 c
ul

tu
ra

l s
ite

s*
  

 
P

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 a

 b
ro

ad
 ra

ng
e 

of
 h

ig
h 

qu
al

ity
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

, b
ot

h 
in

 a
nd

 o
ut

 o
f s

ch
oo

l, 
pa

rti
cu

la
rly

 b
y 

pr
io

rit
y 

gr
ou

ps
*.

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

be
ne

fit
in

g 
fro

m
 c

hi
ld

re
n'

s 
lib

ra
rie

s 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

B
oo

ks
ta

rt,
 h

om
ew

or
k 

cl
ub

s 
an

d 
th

e 
S

um
m

er
 R

ea
di

ng
 C

ha
lle

ng
e*

. 
 

P
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n 
an

d 
le

ar
ni

ng
 th

ro
ug

h 
E

du
ca

tio
n 

fo
r S

us
ta

in
ab

le
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t*

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 a

) 
pu

pi
ls

 o
f c

om
pu

ls
or

y 
sc

ho
ol

 a
ge

 a
nd

 b
) 

pu
pi

ls
 o

f c
om

pu
ls

or
y 

sc
ho

ol
 a

ge
 in

 re
ce

ip
t o

f f
re

e 
sc

ho
ol

 m
ea

ls
 w

ith
in

 1
5 

an
d 

30
 m

in
ut

es
 o

f a
 p

rim
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 2
0 

an
d 

40
 m

in
ut

es
 o

f a
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 s
ch

oo
l b

y 
pu

bl
ic

 tr
an

sp
or

t*
 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 1
6-

19
 y

ea
r 

ol
ds

 w
ith

in
 3

0 
an

d 
60

 m
in

ut
es

 o
f a

 fu
rth

er
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

t b
y 

pu
bl

ic
 tr

an
sp

or
t* 

A
ch

ie
ve

 E
co

no
m

ic
 W

el
l-b

ei
ng

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 1

9 
ye

ar
 o

ld
s 

ac
hi

ev
in

g 
le

ve
l 2

+ 
in

 N
V

Q
 o

r e
qu

iv
al

en
t 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 1
8-

30
 y

ea
r o

ld
s 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tin
g 

in
 h

ig
he

r e
du

ca
tio

n 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 s

oc
ia

l h
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

ho
us

eh
ol

ds
 in

 th
e 

pr
iv

at
e 

se
ct

or
 in

 
a 

de
ce

nt
 c

on
di

tio
n.

 
 

C
le

an
er

, 
sa

fe
r, 

gr
ee

ne
r 

pu
bl

ic
 s

pa
ce

s 
an

d 
qu

al
ity

 o
f 

th
e 

bu
ilt

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t 

in
 

de
pr

iv
ed

 a
re

as
 

 
Le

ve
l o

f m
at

er
ia

l d
ep

riv
at

io
n 

an
d 

lo
w

 in
co

m
e 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
liv

in
g 

in
 lo

w
-in

co
m

e 
ho

us
eh

ol
ds

 (
on

ly
 m

ea
su

ra
bl

e 
do

w
n 

to
 re

gi
on

al
 le

ve
l) 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

w
ith

 n
o 

on
e 

in
 w

or
k 

(o
nl

y 
m

ea
su

ra
bl

e 
do

w
n 

to
 re

gi
on

al
 le

ve
l) 

 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 

16
-1

8 
ye

ar
 

ol
ds

 
no

t 
in

 
ed

uc
at

io
n,

 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
or

 
tra

in
in

g 
(m

an
da

to
ry

 ta
rg

et
 w

he
re

 C
on

ne
xi

on
s 

is
 in

cl
ud

ed
) 

 
S

to
ck

 a
nd

 ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 c

hi
ld

ca
re

 fo
r a

ll 
fa

m
ilie

s 
   

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 lo
ne

 p
ar

en
ts

 in
 s

us
ta

in
ab

le
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t*

 
 

N
um

be
r o

f c
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

w
ith

ou
t a

 b
an

k 
ac

co
un

t o
f a

ny
 k

in
d*

 
 

N
um

be
r o

f l
ow

-in
co

m
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
bl

e 
to

 b
or

ro
w

 a
t a

ffo
rd

ab
le

 ra
te

s*
 

61



 
50

 

 
N

um
be

r o
f l

ow
-in

co
m

e 
fa

m
ilie

s 
in

 o
ve

r-i
nd

eb
te

dn
es

s*
 

 
Li

te
ra

cy
 a

tta
in

m
en

t o
f p

up
ils

 in
 lo

w
es

t q
ua

rti
le

 o
f a

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t* 

M
ak

e 
a 

P
os

iti
ve

 C
on

tri
bu

tio
n 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 s

ch
oo

ls
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

in
g 

in
 a

) e
le

ct
io

n 
of

 s
ch

oo
l 

co
un

ci
l m

em
be

rs
, a

nd
 b

) m
oc

k 
ge

ne
ra

l e
le

ct
io

ns
 

 
V

ol
un

ta
ry

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

ity
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t 
 

R
ed

uc
e 

le
ve

ls
 o

f o
ffe

nd
in

g 
 

C
rim

es
 b

ro
ug

ht
 to

 ju
st

ic
e 

 
P

er
m

an
en

t a
nd

 fi
xe

d 
pe

rio
d 

ex
cl

us
io

ns
 fr

om
 s

ch
oo

l  
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 1

0-
19

 y
ea

r 
ol

ds
 a

dm
itt

in
g 

to
 a

) 
bu

lly
in

g 
an

ot
he

r 
pu

pi
l, 

an
d 

b)
 

at
ta

ck
in

g,
 th

re
at

en
in

g 
or

 b
ei

ng
 ru

de
 d

ue
 to

 s
ki

n 
co

lo
ur

, r
ac

e 
or

 re
lig

io
n 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 1
8-

24
 y

ea
r o

ld
s 

w
ho

 a
re

 s
el

f-e
m

pl
oy

ed
, m

an
ag

e 
ow

n 
bu

si
ne

ss
 o

r 
ha

ve
 th

ou
gh

t s
er

io
us

ly
 a

bo
ut

 s
ta

rti
ng

 th
ei

r o
w

n 
bu

si
ne

ss
 

 
D

ev
el

op
 s

el
f c

on
fid

en
ce

 a
nd

 s
uc

ce
ss

fu
lly

 d
ea

l w
ith

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t l

ife
 c

ha
ng

es
 a

nd
 

ch
al

le
ng

es
 (m

ea
su

re
 to

 b
e 

id
en

tif
ie

d 
fro

m
 C

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
P

er
ce

pt
io

n 
S

ur
ve

y)
 

 
N

um
be

r y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
vo

lu
nt

ee
rin

g 
 in

 c
ul

tu
re

 a
nd

 s
po

rt*
 

 
Y

ou
th

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n 
in

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t a
ct

iv
iti

es
* 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 

R
en

ew
al

 
E

du
ca

tio
n 

O
ut

co
m

e 
(M

an
da

to
ry

 w
he

re
 a

re
as

 
re

ce
iv

e 
N

R
F)

 

 
R

ai
se

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 in

 E
ng

lis
h,

 m
at

hs
, a

nd
 s

ci
en

ce
 in

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

so
 th

at
 

by
 2

00
8,

 in
 a

ll 
sc

ho
ol

s 
lo

ca
te

d 
in

 th
e 

di
st

ric
ts

 in
 r

ec
ei

pt
 o

f N
R

F,
 a

t l
ea

st
 5

0%
 o

f 
pu

pi
ls

 a
ch

ie
ve

 le
ve

l 5
 o

r a
bo

ve
 in

 e
ac

h 
E

ng
lis

h,
 m

at
hs

 a
nd

 s
ci

en
ce

. 

* T
he

se
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 d
o 

no
t a

pp
ea

r i
n 

th
e 

E
C

M
 fr

am
ew

or
k 

bu
t a

re
 il

lu
st

ra
tiv

e 
ex

am
pl

es
 o

f r
el

ev
an

t a
dd

iti
on

al
 in

di
ca

to
rs

 lo
ca

l a
re

as
 h

av
e 

us
ed

 e
.g

. 
in

 L
P

S
A

s.
  

 

62



 
51

 

TA
B

LE
 2

 - 
SA

FE
R

 A
N

D
 S

TR
O

N
G

ER
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

IE
S 

B
LO

C
K

  
M

A
N

D
A

TO
R

Y 
LA

A
 O

U
TC

O
M

ES
 

PO
SS

IB
LE

 L
A

A
 IN

D
IC

A
TO

R
S 

  
To

 re
du

ce
 c

rim
e,

 th
e 

ha
rm

 c
au

se
d 

by
 

ille
ga

l 
dr

ug
s,

 
an

d 
to

 
re

as
su

re
 

th
e 

pu
bl

ic
, r

ed
uc

in
g 

th
e 

fe
ar

 o
f c

rim
e 

an
d 

an
ti-

so
ci

al
 b

eh
av

io
ur

  

 
B

rit
is

h 
C

rim
e 

S
ur

ve
y 

co
m

pa
ra

to
r c

rim
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

20
03

/0
4 

an
d 

20
07

/0
8.

  
 

P
eo

pl
e’

s 
pe

rc
ep

tio
n 

of
 A

S
B

 
 

D
ru

g 
re

la
te

d 
aq

ui
si

tiv
e 

cr
im

e 
 

 
P

ro
po

rti
on

 o
f a

du
lts

 s
ay

in
g 

th
at

 th
ey

 a
re

 in
 fe

ar
 o

f b
ei

ng
 a

 v
ic

tim
 o

f c
rim

e 
 

P
ro

po
rti

on
 o

f o
ffe

nd
er

s 
w

ho
 re

-o
ffe

nd
 w

ith
in

 1
2 

m
on

th
s 

 
N

um
be

r 
of

 y
ou

ng
 a

du
lts

 d
ep

en
de

nt
 o

n 
ille

ga
l 

dr
ug

s 
an

d 
le

ga
l 

su
bs

ta
nc

es
, 

e.
g.

 
al

co
ho

l /
 to

ba
cc

o 
To

 e
m

po
w

er
 l

oc
al

 p
eo

pl
e 

to
 h

av
e 

a 
gr

ea
te

r v
oi

ce
 a

nd
 in

flu
en

ce
 o

ve
r l

oc
al

 
de

ci
si

on
 m

ak
in

g 
an

d 
th

e 
de

liv
er

y 
of

 
se

rv
ic

es
  

 
P

er
ce

pt
io

n 
m

ea
su

re
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g,
 f

or
 e

xa
m

pl
e,

 c
om

m
un

ity
 c

oh
es

io
n,

 n
um

be
rs

 o
f 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d 
bo

di
es

 
et

c.
 

Th
is

 
ca

n 
be

 
di

sc
us

se
d 

du
rin

g 
ne

go
tia

tio
ns

 
an

d 
ad

di
tio

na
l g

ui
da

nc
e 

w
ill 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d.

 
 

P
ro

po
rti

on
 o

f a
du

lts
 w

ho
 fe

el
 a

bl
e 

to
 in

flu
en

ce
 d

ec
is

io
ns

 o
f p

ub
lic

 b
od

ie
s 

lo
ca

lly
 

 
P

ro
po

rti
on

 o
f a

du
lts

 w
ho

 s
ay

 th
at

 p
eo

pl
e 

fro
m

 d
iff

er
en

t b
ac

kg
ro

un
ds

 g
et

 o
n 

w
el

l i
n 

th
ei

r a
re

a 
 

N
um

be
r 

of
 

ad
ul

ts
 

un
de

rta
ki

ng
 

m
or

e 
th

an
 

th
e 

sp
ec

ifi
ed

 
am

ou
nt

 
of

 
fo

rm
al

 
vo

lu
nt

ee
rin

g 
Po

ss
ib

le
 L

A
A

 O
ut

co
m

es
 

Po
ss

ib
le

 L
A

A
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 
To

 h
av

e 
cl

ea
ne

r, 
gr

ee
ne

r 
an

d 
sa

fe
r 

pu
bl

ic
 

sp
ac

es
 

(m
an

da
to

ry
 

w
he

re
 

liv
ea

bi
lit

y 
fu

nd
in

g 
an

d 
ta

rg
et

ed
 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d 
fu

nd
in

g 
is

 
in

cl
ud

ed
) 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 
re

si
de

nt
s 

re
po

rti
ng

 
an

 
in

cr
ea

se
 

in
 

sa
tis

fa
ct

io
n 

w
ith

 
th

ei
r 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

ds
 a

nd
 i

n 
di

sa
dv

an
ta

ge
d 

ar
ea

s 
sh

ow
in

g 
a 

na
rro

w
in

g 
of

 t
he

 g
ap

 
be

tw
ee

n 
th

es
e 

ar
ea

s 
an

d 
th

e 
re

st
.  

 
C

le
an

lin
es

s 
of

 t
he

 n
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 –

 p
ro

po
rti

on
 o

f 
la

nd
 f

al
lin

g 
sh

or
t 

of
 a

 t
ol

er
ab

le
 

st
an

da
rd

 (s
ug

ge
st

 B
V

P
I 1

99
) 

 
To

nn
es

 o
f w

as
te

 d
is

po
se

d 
of

 in
 la

nd
fil

l  
 

E
nv

iro
nm

en
ta

l q
ua

lit
y 

(s
ug

ge
st

 B
V

P
I 1

99
 a

nd
 8

9)
 

 
In

cr
ea

si
ng

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
 r

ec
yc

lin
g:

 T
he

 t
on

na
ge

 o
f h

ou
se

ho
ld

 w
as

te
 r

ec
yc

le
d 

an
d 

or
 

co
m

po
st

ed
 a

s 
m

ea
su

re
d 

fo
r B

V
P

I 8
2a

 a
nd

 8
2b

 
 

Le
ve

l 
of

 n
oi

se
 n

ui
sa

nc
e 

in
 r

es
id

en
tia

l 
ne

ig
hb

ou
rh

oo
ds

: 
 t

he
 r

es
po

ns
e 

tim
e 

to
 a

ll 
no

is
e 

co
m

pl
ai

nt
s;

 t
he

 t
ot

al
 n

um
be

r 
of

 n
ig

ht
 t

im
e 

no
is

e 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s;
 t

he
 n

um
be

r 
of

 

63



 
52

 

re
pe

at
 c

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
ab

ou
t a

ll 
no

is
e;

 p
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 ‘e

xt
en

t t
o 

w
hi

ch
 n

oi
sy

 n
ei

gh
bo

ur
s 

or
 lo

ud
 p

ar
tie

s 
re

pr
es

en
t a

 p
ro

bl
em

 in
 th

e 
lo

ca
l a

re
a’

 
 

A
ir 

Q
ua

lit
y 

- 
lo

ca
l c

on
ce

nt
ra

tio
ns

 o
f s

pe
ci

fic
 a

ir 
po

llu
ta

nt
s:

 (
w

he
re

 lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

ie
s 

ha
ve

 d
ec

la
re

d 
ai

r 
qu

al
ity

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

ar
ea

s 
(A

Q
M

A
s)

 i
n 

re
sp

ec
t 

of
 n

itr
og

en
 

di
ox

id
e 

(N
O

2)
 a

nd
 in

 s
om

e 
ca

se
s 

P
M

10
, m

ai
nl

y 
du

e 
to

 ro
ad

 tr
an

sp
or

t.)
  D

ef
in

iti
on

s 
co

ul
d 

in
cl

ud
e,

 
fo

r 
ex

am
pl

e,
 

re
du

ci
ng

 
co

nc
en

tra
tio

ns
 

of
 

po
llu

ta
nt

s,
 

re
du

ci
ng

 
em

is
si

on
s 

fro
m

 t
ra

ffi
c/

in
du

st
ry

 o
r 

ot
he

r 
so

ur
ce

s,
 w

he
re

 r
el

ev
an

t 
– 

al
th

ou
gh

 w
e 

ca
nn

ot
 r

ul
e 

ou
t 

an
y 

ot
he

r 
su

ita
bl

e 
ai

r 
qu

al
ity

 t
ar

ge
ts

/in
di

ca
to

rs
 t

ha
t 

an
 a

ut
ho

rit
y 

m
ig

ht
 s

ug
ge

st
.  

Th
e 

au
th

or
ity

 s
ho

ul
d 

al
so

 p
ro

po
se

 o
ut

co
m

es
 w

ith
 th

e 
ta

rg
et

, s
uc

h 
as

 re
du

ce
d 

po
llu

tio
n,

 fe
w

er
 p

re
m

at
ur

e 
de

at
hs

 o
r h

os
pi

ta
l a

dm
is

si
on

s 
 

P
ro

te
ct

 a
nd

 e
nh

an
ce

 b
io

di
ve

rs
ity

 -
 to

 c
on

se
rv

e 
an

d 
en

ha
nc

e 
w

ild
lif

e 
an

d 
th

e 
ru

ra
l 

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
pr

om
ot

e 
ac

ce
ss

 a
nd

 u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
 b

y 
al

l10
. 

To
 

im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

qu
al

ity
 

of
 

lif
e 

fo
r 

pe
op

le
 

in
 

th
e 

m
os

t 
di

sa
dv

an
ta

ge
d 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

ds
 a

nd
 e

ns
ur

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
pr

ov
id

er
s 

ar
e 

m
or

e 
re

sp
on

si
ve

 
to

 
ne

ig
hb

ou
rh

oo
d 

ne
ed

s 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

ei
r 

de
liv

er
y 

(M
an

da
to

ry
 

w
he

re
 

ta
rg

et
ed

 n
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 fu

nd
in

g 
is

 
in

cl
ud

ed
) 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 r
es

id
en

ts
 s

at
is

fie
d 

w
ith

 d
el

iv
er

y 
of

 l
oc

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

be
lie

vi
ng

 
se

rv
ic

e 
pr

ov
id

er
s 

ar
e 

m
or

e 
re

sp
on

si
ve

 to
 th

ei
r n

ee
ds

.  

To
 in

cr
ea

se
 d

om
es

tic
 f

ire
 s

af
et

y 
an

d 
to

 r
ed

uc
e 

ar
so

n 
(m

an
da

to
ry

 w
he

re
 

H
om

e 
Fi

re
 

R
is

k 
C

he
ck

 
or

 
ot

he
r 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

fir
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

is
 in

cl
ud

ed
) 

 
M

ea
su

re
s 

re
la

tin
g 

to
, 

fo
r 

ex
am

pl
e,

 a
cc

id
en

ta
l d

om
es

tic
 f

ire
s,

 d
el

ib
er

at
e 

fir
es

, 
fir

e 
in

ju
rie

s.
  T

he
se

 c
an

 b
e 

ag
re

ed
 d

ur
in

g 
di

sc
us

si
on

s.
 

C
ul

tu
ra

l 
se

rv
ic

es
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
lib

ra
rie

s,
 

Li
br

ar
ie

s 
se

rv
ic

e 
st

an
da

rd
s 

an
d 

im
pa

ct
 s

co
re

, a
nd

 c
ul

tu
ra

l p
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n,
 s

at
is

fa
ct

io
n 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
10

 T
he

 C
ou

nt
ry

si
de

 A
ge

nc
y’

s 
“C

ou
nt

ry
si

de
 Q

ua
lit

y 
In

di
ca

to
rs

” 
an

d 
th

e 
E

ng
la

nd
 B

io
di

ve
rs

ity
 S

tra
te

gy
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

in
di

ca
to

rs
 p

ro
vi

de
 s

tro
ng

 b
as

es
 f

or
 s

et
tin

g 
ta

rg
et

s.
  E

xa
m

pl
es

 in
cl

ud
e:

 c
on

di
tio

n 
of

 li
st

ed
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 p
ro

te
ct

ed
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

; c
on

di
tio

n 
an

d 
ch

an
ge

 in
 c

on
di

tio
n 

of
 S

S
S

Is
; n

um
be

rs
 o

f f
ar

m
la

nd
/w

oo
dl

an
d 

bi
rd

s;
 

le
ve

l o
f u

se
 o

f r
ig

ht
s-

of
-w

ay
 a

nd
 a

cc
es

s 
la

nd
; v

ol
un

te
er

 ti
m

e 
sp

en
t i

n 
co

ns
er

va
tio

n 
ac

tiv
ity

; n
um

be
r o

f v
is

its
 to

 n
at

ur
e 

re
se

rv
es

. 
 

64



 
53

 hi
st

or
ic

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t a

nd
 s

po
rt,

 b
et

te
r 

m
ee

t 
th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 t

he
ir 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 
(e

sp
ec

ia
lly

 in
 d

is
ad

va
nt

ag
ed

 a
re

as
) 

an
d 

ac
ce

ss
 in

di
ca

to
rs

  

B
et

te
r 

lif
e 

ch
an

ce
s 

fo
r 

ad
ul

ts
 o

f 
a 

w
or

ki
ng

 a
ge

 
 

In
co

m
e 

le
ve

ls
 (a

gg
re

ga
te

 a
nn

ua
l i

nc
om

es
 o

f s
pe

ci
fie

d 
pe

op
le

) 
 

Le
ve

l o
f h

om
el

es
sn

es
s 

(n
um

be
r 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
ac

ce
pt

ed
 u

nd
er

 th
e 

ho
m

el
es

sn
es

s 
le

gi
sl

at
io

n/
nu

m
be

r 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

pl
ac

ed
 i

n 
te

m
po

ra
ry

 a
cc

om
m

od
at

io
n/

ag
gr

eg
at

e 
nu

m
be

r o
f d

ay
s 

sp
en

t i
n 

te
m

po
ra

ry
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n)
 

 
A

tta
in

m
en

t o
f q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
ns

 re
le

va
nt

 to
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

ta
ke

-u
p 

of
 a

du
lt 

le
ar

ni
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
pu

bl
ic

 li
br

ar
ie

s 
A

 
be

tte
r 

qu
al

ity
 

of
 

lif
e 

fo
r 

al
l 

ag
e 

gr
ou

ps
 

 
P

eo
pl

e 
liv

in
g 

in
 p

oo
r 

ho
us

in
g 

(n
um

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
liv

in
g 

in
 p

riv
at

e 
ho

us
in

g 
th

at
 d

oe
s 

no
t m

ee
t t

he
 ‘d

ec
en

t h
om

es
’ s

ta
nd

ar
d)

. 
 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

os
e 

w
ith

ou
t a

cc
es

s 
to

 a
 c

ar
) w

ith
in

 1
5 

an
d 

30
 

m
in

ut
es

 o
f a

 m
aj

or
 c

en
tre

 b
y 

pu
bl

ic
 tr

an
sp

or
t 

A
 

re
du

ce
d 

co
st

 
of

 
co

nd
uc

tin
g 

ev
er

yd
ay

 li
fe

 
 

Ti
m

e 
ne

ed
ed

 to
 c

ar
ry

 o
ut

 a
 re

pr
es

en
ta

tiv
e 

se
t o

f e
ve

ry
da

y 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 R

en
ew

al
 O

ut
co

m
e 

on
 

C
rim

e(
M

an
da

to
ry

 
w

he
re

 
ar

ea
s 

re
ce

iv
e 

N
R

F)
 

 
R

ed
uc

e 
ov

er
al

l c
rim

e 
in

 li
ne

 w
ith

 lo
ca

l 
C

rim
e 

an
d 

D
is

or
de

r 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

Pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 

ta
rg

et
s 

an
d 

na
rro

w
 t

he
 g

ap
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

w
or

st
 p

er
fo

rm
in

g 
w

ar
ds

/n
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
s 

an
d 

ot
he

r a
re

as
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
di

st
ric

t. 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 R
en

ew
al

 O
ut

co
m

e 
on

 
H

ou
si

ng
(M

an
da

to
ry

 
w

he
re

 
ar

ea
s 

re
ce

iv
e 

N
R

F)
 

 
As

 p
ar

t 
of

 a
n 

ov
er

al
l 

ho
us

in
g 

st
ra

te
gy

 f
or

 t
he

 d
is

tri
ct

, 
im

pr
ov

e 
ho

us
in

g 
co

nd
iti

on
s 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
m

os
t d

ep
riv

ed
 n

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

s/
w

ar
ds

, w
ith

 a
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 fo
cu

s 
on

 e
ns

ur
in

g 
th

at
 a

ll 
so

ci
al

 h
ou

si
ng

 is
 m

ad
e 

de
ce

nt
 b

y 
20

10
. 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 

R
en

ew
al

 
Li

ve
ab

ilit
y 

O
ut

co
m

e(
M

an
da

to
ry

 
w

he
re

 
ar

ea
s 

re
ce

iv
e 

N
R

F)
 

 
Im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
qu

al
ity

 o
f 

th
e 

lo
ca

l 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t 
by

 r
ed

uc
in

g 
th

e 
ga

p 
in

 a
sp

ec
ts

 o
f 

liv
ea

bi
lit

y 
be

tw
ee

n 
th

e 
w

or
st

 w
ar

ds
/n

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

s 
an

d 
th

e 
di

st
ric

t 
as

 a
 w

ho
le

, 
w

ith
 a

 p
ar

tic
ul

ar
 fo

cu
s 

on
 re

du
ci

ng
 le

ve
ls

 o
f l

itt
er

 a
nd

 d
et

rit
us

. 
 

65



 
54

 

TA
B

LE
 3

 - 
H

EA
LT

H
IE

R
 C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

IE
S 

A
N

D
 O

LD
ER

 P
EO

PL
E 

B
LO

C
K

 
 PO

SS
IB

LE
 L

A
A

 O
U

TC
O

M
ES

 
PO

SS
IB

LE
 L

A
A

 IN
D

IC
A

TO
R

S 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 

he
al

th
 

of
 

th
e 

po
pu

la
tio

n:
 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
lif

e 
ex

pe
ct

an
cy

 
an

d 
re

du
ce

d 
he

al
th

 in
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

                      Im
pr

ov
ed

 
qu

al
ity

 
of

 
lif

e 
an

d 
in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 o

f a
ll 

ol
de

r p
eo

pl
e.

 

 
M

or
ta

lit
y 

ra
te

s 
fro

m
 c

an
ce

r, 
he

ar
t d

is
ea

se
 a

nd
 s

tro
ke

 a
nd

 re
la

te
d 

di
se

as
es

   
 

In
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

ga
p 

be
tw

ee
n 

th
e 

fif
th

 o
f 

ar
ea

s 
w

ith
 w

or
st

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 d

ep
riv

at
io

n 
in

di
ca

to
rs

 a
nd

 th
e 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
as

 a
 w

ho
le

  
 

H
ea

lth
 i

ne
qu

al
iti

es
, 

as
 m

ea
su

re
d 

by
 i

nf
an

t 
m

or
ta

lit
y,

 li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

at
 b

irt
h 

an
d 

ba
bi

es
 b

or
n 

w
ith

 a
 lo

w
 b

irt
h 

ra
te

  
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 m

ot
he

rs
 w

ho
 a

re
 b

re
as

t f
ee

di
ng

 a
t c

hi
ld

’s
 6

 –
 8

 w
ee

k 
ch

ec
k 

 
A

du
lt 

sm
ok

in
g 

ra
te

s.
 

 
In

ci
de

nc
e 

of
 o

be
si

ty
 a

m
on

g 
ch

ild
re

n 
un

de
r 

11
 (

as
 p

ar
t 

of
 a

 s
tra

te
gy

 t
o 

ta
ck

le
 

ob
es

ity
 in

 th
e 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
as

 a
 w

ho
le

). 
[A

ls
o 

in
 C

YP
 b

lo
ck

] 
 

U
nd

er
 1

8 
co

nc
ep

tio
n 

ra
te

 (
as

 p
ar

t 
of

 a
 b

ro
ad

 s
tra

te
gy

 t
o 

im
pr

ov
e 

se
xu

al
 h

ea
lth

) 
[A

ls
o 

in
 C

YP
 b

lo
ck

] 
 

N
um

be
r o

f p
eo

pl
e 

ki
lle

d 
or

 s
er

io
us

ly
 in

ju
re

d 
in

 ro
ad

 a
cc

id
en

ts
 

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 (i
) c

ris
is

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
(ii

) c
hi

ld
 a

nd
 a

do
le

sc
en

t m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
os

e 
w

ith
ou

t a
cc

es
s 

to
 a

 c
ar

) 
w

ith
in

 3
0 

an
d 

60
 m

in
ut

es
 o

f a
 h

os
pi

ta
l w

ith
 a

n 
ou

tp
at

ie
nt

s'
 fa

ci
lit

y 
by

 p
ub

lic
 tr

an
sp

or
t 

 
P

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 h
ou

se
ho

ld
s 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

os
e 

w
ith

ou
t a

cc
es

s 
to

 a
 c

ar
) 

w
ith

in
 1

5 
an

d 
30

 m
in

ut
es

 o
f a

 G
P

 b
y 

pu
bl

ic
 tr

an
sp

or
t 

 
P

ro
po

rti
on

 o
f o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

su
pp

or
te

d 
to

 li
ve

 in
 th

ei
r o

w
n 

ho
m

e.
 

 
E

vi
de

nc
e 

of
 im

pr
ov

ed
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 o
f o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

(n
um

be
r o

f e
ld

er
ly

 p
eo

pl
e 

re
po

rti
ng

 
a 

go
od

 q
ua

lit
y 

of
 li

fe
) 

 
N

um
be

r o
f s

ch
oo

ls
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 H
ea

lth
y 

S
ch

oo
ls

 S
ta

nd
ar

d.
 

 
S

ui
ci

de
 ra

te
s 

 
A

lc
oh

ol
 a

nd
 d

ru
gs

 c
on

su
m

pt
io

n.
 

 
In

co
m

e 
le

ve
ls

 –
 a

nn
ua

l 
av

er
ag

e 
in

co
m

e 
of

 s
pe

ci
fie

d 
ol

de
r 

pe
op

le
 (

su
gg

es
te

d 
m

ea
su

re
s 

ar
e 

ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 s

pe
ci

fie
d 

be
ne

fit
s 

e.
g.

 a
tte

nd
an

ce
 a

llo
w

an
ce

, C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

be
ne

fit
, P

en
si

on
 C

re
di

t, 
H

ou
si

ng
 B

en
ef

it)
 

 
P

re
ve

nt
io

n 
se

rv
ic

es
 to

 p
ro

ac
tiv

el
y 

su
pp

or
t o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

be
fo

re
 th

e 
po

in
t o

f c
ris

is
 

66



 
55

 In
cr

ea
se

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f o
ld

er
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 a

re
 p

ro
du

ct
iv

el
y 

en
ga

ge
d 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

os
e 

w
ho

 a
re

 h
ar

d 
to

 
re

ac
h)

 in
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
of

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
an

d 
de

si
gn

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
s 

th
at

 m
ee

t t
he

ir 
ne

ed
s 

an
d 

as
pi

ra
tio

ns
. 

 A
ch

ie
ve

 
hi

gh
er

 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
ra

te
s 

ov
er

al
l a

nd
 g

re
at

er
 f

le
xi

bi
lit

y 
fo

r 
ov

er
 

50
s 

in
 c

on
tin

ui
ng

 c
ar

ee
rs

, 
m

an
ag

in
g 

an
y 

he
al

th
 c

on
di

tio
ns

 a
nd

 c
om

bi
ni

ng
 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 

fa
m

ily
 

(a
nd

 
ot

he
r)

 
co

m
m

itm
en

ts
. 

Im
pr

ov
e  

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

ad
vi

ce
 

to
 

ch
an

ge
 

at
tit

ud
es

 
am

on
gs

t e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

an
d 

em
pl

oy
er

s.
 

               

 
P

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f l

ow
-le

ve
l c

ar
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t  

 
Tr

an
sp

or
t 

pl
an

ni
ng

 a
nd

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 t

ha
t 

ta
ke

s 
ac

co
un

t 
of

 n
ee

ds
 o

f 
ol

de
r 

pe
op

le
 in

 
av

ai
la

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ilit

y 
(D

fT
 w

or
ki

ng
 o

n 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ilit

y 
in

di
ca

to
rs

; 
in

cr
ea

se
 i

n 
pu

bl
ic

 tr
an

sp
or

t p
at

ro
na

ge
 a

cc
ep

ta
bl

e 
as

 a
 p

ro
xy

) 
 

Ta
ke

 u
p 

of
 P

en
si

on
 C

re
di

t 
 

Le
ve

ls
 o

f 
em

er
ge

nc
y 

ho
sp

ita
l 

ad
m

is
si

on
s 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
ag

ed
 6

5+
 (

al
so

, 
In

no
va

tio
ns

 
Fo

ru
m

 ta
rg

et
 o

n 
un

sc
he

du
le

d 
be

d 
da

ys
 7

5+
) 

 
N

um
be

r o
f f

al
ls

 o
f o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
si

de
 a

nd
 o

ut
si

de
 th

e 
ho

m
e 

 
Le

ve
l o

f 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

ity
 a

nd
 u

se
 o

f 
sp

or
ts

 f
ac

ilit
ie

s,
 e

sp
ec

ia
lly

 b
y 

pr
io

rit
y 

gr
ou

ps
 

an
d 

ol
de

r 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 in
 d

is
ad

va
nt

ag
ed

 a
re

as
 (

nu
m

be
r 

of
 a

du
lts

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
in

g 
in

 a
t 

le
as

t 3
0 

m
in

ut
es

 o
f m

od
er

at
e 

in
te

ns
ity

 s
po

rt 
an

d 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

ity
 o

n 
5 

or
 m

or
e 

da
ys

 
ea

ch
 w

ee
k 

on
 a

ve
ra

ge
 o

ve
r a

 y
ea

r; 
or

 n
um

be
r o

f a
du

lts
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

in
g 

in
 a

t l
ea

st
 3

0 
m

in
ut

es
 o

f m
od

er
at

e 
in

te
ns

ity
 s

po
rt 

on
 3

 o
r m

or
e 

da
ys

 e
ac

h 
w

ee
k 

on
 a

ve
ra

ge
 o

ve
r 

a 
ye

ar
 - 

as
 a

gr
ee

d 
D

C
M

S
/D

H
/D

fE
S

/O
D

P
M

/S
po

rt 
E

ng
la

nd
) 

 
A

cc
es

s 
to

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

fo
r 

ol
de

r 
pe

op
le

 o
n 

w
ha

t 
th

er
e 

is
 lo

ca
lly

, 
ho

w
 t

o 
ac

ce
ss

 it
, 

an
d 

ho
w

 t
o 

ge
t 

in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

de
ci

si
on

 m
ak

in
g,

 a
nd

 in
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 m

or
e 

w
id

el
y.

 
 

E
vi

de
nc

e 
th

at
 o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ne

ed
s 

an
d 

as
pi

ra
tio

ns
 a

re
 in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 th
e 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

P
la

n/
S

tra
te

gy
 a

nd
 th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

am
en

iti
es

 g
iv

e 
pa

rti
cu

la
r c

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

to
 o

ld
er

 
pe

op
le

. 
 

N
um

be
rs

 o
f o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
 h

ar
d 

to
 re

ac
h 

gr
ou

ps
 a

re
 a

bl
e 

to
 a

cc
es

s 
an

d 
pa

rti
ci

pa
te

 
in

 c
om

m
un

ity
 a

ct
iv

ity
.  

 
N

um
be

rs
 

of
 

ol
de

r 
pe

op
le

 
us

in
g 

lo
ca

l 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

su
ch

 
as

 
lib

ra
rie

s,
 

ed
uc

at
io

na
l 

co
ur

se
s,

 l
ei

su
re

 f
ac

ilit
ie

s,
 v

ol
un

te
er

in
g 

an
d 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tin
g 

m
or

e 
in

 t
he

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

ge
ne

ra
lly

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

he
lp

ed
 to

 li
ve

 a
t h

om
e.

 
 

N
um

be
rs

 o
f 

ac
ci

de
nt

s 
(o

th
er

 t
ha

n 
fa

lls
) 

fo
r 

ex
am

pl
e,

 f
ire

s,
 in

si
de

 a
nd

 o
ut

si
de

 t
he

 
ho

m
e.

 
 

N
um

be
r 

of
 o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 e
xp

re
ss

 a
 f

ea
r 

of
 c

rim
e 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
an

ti 
so

ci
al

 
be

ha
vi

ou
r).

 
N

um
be

r o
f o

ld
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

liv
in

g 
in

 d
ec

en
t h

om
es

, w
he

th
er

 s
oc

ia
l h

ou
si

ng
 o

r p
riv

at
el

y 

67



 
56

       

ow
ne

d.
 

 
N

um
be

r o
f e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
ov

er
 5

0.
 

 
N

um
be

r 
of

 j
ob

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r 
pe

op
le

 o
ve

r 
60

/6
5,

 s
up

po
rte

d 
by

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 
tra

in
in

g.
 

 
Lo

ca
l f

oo
d 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t: 

%
 o

f a
ll 

pu
bl

ic
 s

ec
to

r 
or

ga
ni

sa
tio

ns
 a

dh
er

in
g 

to
 h

ea
lth

ie
r 

nu
tri

tio
na

l s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 

 
R

ig
ht

s 
of

 W
ay

 –
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 t
he

 c
ou

nt
ry

si
de

: 
to

 i
nc

re
as

e 
vi

si
to

r 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o 

th
e 

co
un

try
si

de
 (p

hy
si

ca
l a

ct
iv

ity
) a

nd
 im

pr
ov

e 
ru

ra
l b

us
in

es
s 

co
m

pe
tit

iv
en

es
s11

. 
 

A
ir 

Q
ua

lit
y 

- 
lo

ca
l c

on
ce

nt
ra

tio
ns

 o
f s

pe
ci

fic
 a

ir 
po

llu
ta

nt
s:

 (
w

he
re

 lo
ca

l a
ut

ho
rit

ie
s 

ha
ve

 d
ec

la
re

d 
ai

r 
qu

al
ity

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

ar
ea

s 
(A

Q
M

A
s)

 i
n 

re
sp

ec
t 

of
 n

itr
og

en
 

di
ox

id
e 

(N
O

2)
 a

nd
 in

 s
om

e 
ca

se
s 

P
M

10
, m

ai
nl

y 
du

e 
to

 ro
ad

 tr
an

sp
or

t.)
12

 
N

ei
gh

bo
ur

ho
od

 R
en

ew
al

 O
ut

co
m

e 
on

 
H

ea
lth

(M
an

da
to

ry
 

w
he

re
 

ar
ea

s 
re

ce
iv

e 
N

R
F)

 

 
R

ed
uc

e 
pr

em
at

ur
e 

m
or

ta
lit

y 
ra

te
s,

 a
nd

 r
ed

uc
e 

in
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

in
 p

re
m

at
ur

e 
m

or
ta

lit
y 

ra
te

s 
be

tw
ee

n 
w

ar
ds

/n
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
s,

 w
ith

 a
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 fo
cu

s 
on

 r
ed

uc
in

g 
th

e 
ris

k 
fa

ct
or

s 
fo

r 
he

ar
t 

di
se

as
e,

 s
tro

ke
 a

nd
 r

el
at

ed
 d

is
ea

se
s 

(C
V

D
) 

(s
m

ok
in

g,
 d

ie
t 

an
d 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

). 
    

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

11
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 b
y 

w
hi

ch
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

ar
e:

 C
ha

ng
e 

in
 n

um
be

r 
of

 u
se

rs
 o

f t
he

 s
tra

te
gi

c 
fo

ot
pa

th
s 

an
d 

rig
ht

s 
of

 w
ay

; R
at

ea
bl

e 
va

lu
e 

ad
de

d 
to

 
ra

tin
g 

lis
ts

 d
ue

 to
 lo

ss
 o

f a
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l e
xe

m
pt

io
n 

on
 e

xi
st

in
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 (i
nc

lu
di

ng
 p

ro
pe

rty
 s

ub
di

vi
de

d)
; P

ro
po

rti
on

 o
f r

ur
al

 s
m

al
l a

nd
 m

ed
iu

m
 s

iz
ed

 e
nt

er
pr

is
es

 
w

ith
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t e
-c

om
m

er
ce

 c
ap

ab
ili

ty
; N

um
be

r o
f e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
of

 ru
ra

l s
m

al
l a

nd
 m

ed
iu

m
 s

iz
ed

 e
nt

er
pr

is
es

 a
cc

re
di

te
d 

un
de

r t
he

 Q
ua

lit
y 

E
dg

e 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e.
 

12
 D

ef
in

iti
on

s 
co

ul
d 

in
cl

ud
e,

 fo
r e

xa
m

pl
e,

 re
du

ci
ng

 c
on

ce
nt

ra
tio

ns
 o

f p
ol

lu
ta

nt
s,

 re
du

ci
ng

 e
m

is
si

on
s 

fro
m

 tr
af

fic
/in

du
st

ry
 o

r o
th

er
 s

ou
rc

es
, w

he
re

 re
le

va
nt

 –
 

al
th

ou
gh

 w
e 

ca
nn

ot
 ru

le
 o

ut
 a

ny
 o

th
er

 s
ui

ta
bl

e 
ai

r q
ua

lit
y 

ta
rg

et
s/

in
di

ca
to

rs
 th

at
 a

n 
au

th
or

ity
 m

ig
ht

 s
ug

ge
st

.  
Th

e 
au

th
or

ity
 s

ho
ul

d 
al

so
 p

ro
po

se
 o

ut
co

m
es

 w
ith

 
th

e 
ta

rg
et

, s
uc

h 
as

 re
du

ce
d 

po
llu

tio
n,

 fe
w

er
 p

re
m

at
ur

e 
de

at
hs

 o
r h

os
pi

ta
l a

dm
is

si
on

s 

68



 
57

 

TA
B

LE
 4

 E
C

O
N

O
M

IC
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

A
N

D
 E

N
TE

R
PR

IS
E 

B
LO

C
K

 
 LA

A
 O

U
TC

O
M

ES
 

PO
SS

IB
LE

 L
A

A
 IN

D
IC

A
TO

R
S 

In
cr

ea
se

 
ec

on
om

ic
 

gr
ow

th
 

an
d 

pr
od

uc
tiv

ity
 o

f l
oc

al
ity

 
 

G
V

A
 p

er
 c

ap
ita

 (u
si

ng
 e

ar
ni

ng
s 

da
ta

 a
s 

a 
pr

ox
y 

m
ea

su
re

 –
 L

ab
ou

r F
or

ce
 S

ur
ve

y)
 

 
O

ut
pu

t (
us

in
g 

ea
rn

in
gs

 x
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t a

s 
a 

pr
ox

y 
m

ea
su

re
 –

 L
ab

ou
r F

or
ce

 S
ur

ve
y)

 
 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 s
co

re
 o

n 
in

di
ce

s 
of

 m
ul

tip
le

 d
ep

riv
at

io
n 

(O
D

P
M

) 
In

cr
ea

se
 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

an
d 

re
du

ce
 

un
em

pl
oy

m
en

t a
nd

 in
ac

tiv
ity

 in
 lo

ca
lit

y 
 

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t r
at

e 
(L

FS
)  

 
In

ac
tiv

ity
 ra

te
 (L

FS
) 

 
U

ne
m

pl
oy

m
en

t r
at

e 
(L

FS
) 

P
ro

m
ot

e 
gr

ow
th

 a
nd

 s
us

ta
in

ab
ilit

y 
of

 
en

te
rp

ris
e 

an
d 

sm
al

l b
us

in
es

s 
 

 
To

ta
l E

nt
re

pr
en

eu
ria

l A
ct

iv
ity

 ra
te

 (G
E

M
)V

A
T 

R
eg

is
tra

tio
ns

N
et

 c
ha

ng
e 

in
 b

us
in

es
s 

st
oc

k 
(r

eg
is

tra
tio

ns
 –

 d
er

eg
is

tra
tio

ns
) (

O
N

S
) 

 
N

um
be

r o
f n

ew
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
cr

ea
te

d 
an

d 
de

m
on

st
ra

tin
g 

gr
ow

th
 a

fte
r 1

2 
m

on
th

s 
 

N
um

be
r o

f b
us

in
es

se
s 

at
tra

ct
ed

 to
 th

e 
ar

ea
 

 
N

um
be

r o
f b

us
in

es
se

s 
as

si
st

ed
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
ei

r p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
 

Le
ve

l o
f r

ep
or

te
d 

cr
im

e 
ag

ai
ns

t b
us

in
es

s 
To

 
su

pp
or

t 
th

e 
su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
gr

ow
th

, 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 
th

e 
fa

ilu
re

, 
of

 
lo

ca
lly

 
ow

ne
d 

bu
si

ne
ss

es
 

 
B

us
in

es
s 

fa
ilu

re
 ra

te
s 

 
In

so
lv

en
cy

 le
ve

ls
 

 
La

bo
ur

 p
ro

du
ct

iv
ity

 (o
ut

pu
t p

er
 w

or
ke

r)
 

In
cr

ea
se

 
sk

ill 
le

ve
ls

 
of

 
th

e 
lo

ca
l 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
w

ith
 c

le
ar

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 lo
ca

l 
bu

si
ne

ss
 n

ee
d 

 

 
N

um
be

r o
f p

eo
pl

e 
as

si
st

ed
 in

 th
ei

r s
ki

lls
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t t

o 
in

cl
ud

e 
- 

N
um

be
r o

f a
du

lts
 g

ai
ni

ng
 b

as
ic

 s
ki

lls
 a

s 
pa

rt 
of

 th
e 

S
ki

lls
 fo

r L
ife

 S
tra

te
gy

 
- 

N
um

be
r 

of
 a

du
lts

 w
ho

 a
re

 s
up

po
rte

d 
in

 a
ch

ie
vi

ng
 a

t l
ea

st
 a

 fu
ll 

fir
st

 le
ve

l 2
 

qu
al

ifi
ca

tio
n 

or
 e

qu
iv

al
en

t 
- 

S
ki

lls
 le

ve
ls

 in
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 b
us

in
es

s 
se

ct
or

s 
In

cr
ea

se
 in

ve
st

m
en

t a
nd

 c
om

pe
tit

io
n 

 
P

ub
lic

 a
nd

 p
riv

at
e 

in
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
in

ve
st

m
en

t l
ev

er
ed

 (£
m

illi
on

 / 
%

 p
riv

at
e)

 
 

To
 in

cl
ud

e:
 S

uc
h 

in
ve

st
m

en
t i

n 
re

cl
ai

m
in

g 
an

d 
re

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 b

ro
w

nf
ie

ld
 la

nd
. l

ev
el

 
of

 lo
ca

l t
ra

ns
po

rt 
co

ng
es

tio
n 

 
 

av
er

ag
e 

tra
ve

l t
o 

w
or

k 
tim

es
 

 
ra

te
 o

f p
la

nn
in

g 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 p

ro
ce

ss
ed

 to
 th

e 
na

tio
na

lly
 s

et
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 
Su

pp
or

t g
ro

w
th

 a
nd

 p
ro

du
ct

iv
ity

 in
 

 
E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t b

y 
se

ct
or

 

69



 
58

 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

lo
ca

l b
us

in
es

s 
se

ct
or

s 
of

 
im

po
rta

nc
e 

(c
on

si
st

en
t w

ith
 s

ta
te

 a
id

 
ru

le
s)

 
e.

g.
 

re
ta

il;
 

bu
si

ne
ss

 
an

d 
fin

an
ci

al
 

se
rv

ic
es

; 
m

an
uf

ac
tu

rin
g;

 
to

ur
is

m
, 

le
is

ur
e 

an
d 

cr
ea

tiv
e 

in
du

st
rie

s 

 
E

ar
ni

ng
s 

by
 s

ec
to

r 
 

O
ut

pu
t b

y 
se

ct
or

 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 R

en
ew

al
 O

ut
co

m
e 

on
 

W
or

kl
es

sn
es

s(
M

an
da

to
ry

 
w

he
re

 
ar

ea
s 

re
ce

iv
e 

N
R

F)
 

 
Fo

r 
th

os
e 

liv
in

g 
in

 t
he

 w
ar

ds
 w

ith
 t

he
 w

or
st

 la
bo

ur
 m

ar
ke

t 
po

si
tio

n 
th

at
 a

re
 a

ls
o 

lo
ca

te
d 

w
ith

in
 t

he
 d

is
tri

ct
s 

in
 r

ec
ei

pt
 o

f 
N

R
F,

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
tly

 i
m

pr
ov

e 
th

ei
r 

ov
er

al
l 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t 

ra
te

, 
an

d 
re

du
ce

 t
he

 d
iff

er
en

ce
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
ei

r 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
ra

te
 a

nd
 

th
e 

ov
er

al
l e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t r

at
e 

fo
r E

ng
la

nd
. 

To
 in

cr
ea

se
 to

ta
l e

nt
re

pr
en

eu
ria

l 
ac

tiv
ity

 a
m

on
gs

t t
he

 lo
ca

l p
op

ul
at

io
n 

(M
an

da
to

ry
 w

he
re

 a
re

as
 re

ce
iv

e 
LE

G
I s

up
po

rt
) 

 
N

um
be

r o
f n

ew
 b

us
in

es
se

s 
cr

ea
te

d 
an

d 
de

m
on

st
ra

tin
g 

gr
ow

th
 a

fte
r 1

2 
m

on
th

s 
 

To
ta

l E
nt

re
pr

en
eu

ria
l A

ct
iv

ity
 ra

te
 (G

lo
ba

l E
nt

re
pr

en
eu

rs
hi

p 
M

on
ito

r)
 

 
V

A
T 

re
gi

st
ra

tio
ns

 (O
N

S
) 

 
N

et
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 b
us

in
es

s 
st

oc
k 

(r
eg

is
tra

tio
ns

 –
 d

er
eg

is
tra

tio
ns

) (
O

N
S

) 
To

 s
up

po
rt 

th
e 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

gr
ow

th
, 

an
d 

re
du

ce
 th

e 
un

ne
ce

ss
ar

y 
fa

ilu
re

, o
f 

lo
ca

lly
-o

w
ne

d 
bu

si
ne

ss
 (M

an
da

to
ry

 
w

he
re

 a
re

as
 re

ce
iv

e 
LE

G
I s

up
po

rt
) 

 
N

um
be

r o
f b

us
in

es
se

s 
as

si
st

ed
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
ei

r p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
 

V
A

T 
de

re
gi

st
ra

tio
ns

 (O
N

S
) 

To
 a

ttr
ac

t a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 in
w

ar
d 

in
ve

st
or

s,
 m

ak
in

g 
us

e 
of

 lo
ca

l l
ab

ou
r 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
(M

an
da

to
ry

 w
he

re
 a

re
as

 
re

ce
iv

e 
LE

G
I s

up
po

rt
) 

 
N

um
be

r o
f b

us
in

es
se

s 
at

tra
ct

ed
 to

 th
e 

ar
ea

 
 

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t r
at

e 
 

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t r

at
e 

 
In

ac
tiv

ity
 ra

te
 

70



 
59

 

TA
B

LE
 5

 - 
C

R
O

SS
 C

U
TT

IN
G

 O
U

TC
O

M
ES

  
 C

O
N

TE
XT

 
In

 a
dd

iti
on

 th
er

e 
w

ill 
be

 a
 n

um
be

r o
f o

ut
co

m
es

 a
nd

 in
di

ca
to

rs
 w

hi
ch

 c
ut

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

th
re

e 
bl

oc
ks

. A
 s

el
ec

tio
n 

of
 th

es
e 

is
 li

st
ed

 in
 th

e 
ta

bl
e 

be
lo

w
. T

he
 d

eg
re

e 
to

 w
hi

ch
 th

es
e 

ou
tc

om
es

 a
nd

 in
di

ca
to

rs
 w

ill 
be

 in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 L

A
A

s 
w

ill 
be

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

ne
go

tia
tio

ns
.  

 
 PO

SS
IB

LE
 L

A
A

 O
U

TC
O

M
ES

 
PO

SS
IB

LE
 L

A
A

 IN
D

IC
A

TO
R

S 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 p

ov
er

ty
  

 
O

ve
ra

ll 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t r
at

e 
 

 
E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

ra
te

s 
of

 l
on

e 
pa

re
nt

s,
 e

th
ni

c 
m

in
or

iti
es

, 
pe

op
le

 a
ge

d 
50

 a
nd

 o
ve

r, 
th

os
e 

w
ith

 t
he

 l
ow

es
t 

qu
al

ifi
ca

tio
ns

, 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 d
is

ab
ilit

ie
s,

 a
nd

 d
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed
 

ar
ea

s 
 

Jo
b 

S
ee

ke
rs

 A
llo

w
an

ce
 u

ne
m

pl
oy

m
en

t r
at

e 
 

R
at

e 
of

 e
co

no
m

ic
 a

ct
iv

ity
 

 
N

um
be

r 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

he
lp

ed
 f

ro
m

 d
is

ad
va

nt
ag

ed
 g

ro
up

s 
an

d 
ar

ea
s 

in
to

 s
us

ta
in

ed
 

w
or

k 
of

 1
6 

ho
ur

s 
a 

w
ee

k 
or

 m
or

e 
fo

r 1
3 

co
ns

ec
ut

iv
e 

w
ee

ks
 o

r m
or

e 
 

Th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f p
eo

pl
e 

m
ov

in
g 

of
f i

na
ct

iv
e 

be
ne

fit
s 

 
 

Th
e 

ta
ke

-u
p 

of
 c

or
re

ct
 b

en
ef

it 
an

d 
ta

x 
cr

ed
it 

en
tit

le
m

en
ts

  
 

P
er

ce
nt

ag
e 

of
 a

) 
pe

op
le

 o
f 

w
or

ki
ng

 a
ge

 a
nd

 b
) 

pe
op

le
 in

 r
ec

ei
pt

 o
f 

Jo
bs

ee
ke

rs
' 

al
lo

w
an

ce
 w

ith
in

 2
0 

an
d 

40
 m

in
ut

es
 o

f w
or

k 
by

 p
ub

lic
 tr

an
sp

or
t 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 p
en

si
on

er
 p

ov
er

ty
 

 
N

um
be

r 
of

 p
en

si
on

er
 h

ou
se

ho
ld

s 
in

 r
ec

ei
pt

 o
f 

P
en

si
on

 C
re

di
t a

nd
/o

r 
C

ou
nc

il 
Ta

x 
C

re
di

t 
S

af
er

 a
nd

 h
ea

lth
ie

r w
or

ki
ng

 li
ve

s 
 

In
ci

de
nt

 ra
te

 o
f f

at
al

 a
nd

 m
aj

or
 in

ju
rie

s 
at

 w
or

k 
 

N
um

be
r o

f w
or

ki
ng

 d
ay

s 
lo

st
 fr

om
 w

or
k-

re
la

te
d 

in
ju

rie
s 

an
d 

ill 
he

al
th

 
 

A
nn

ua
l i

nc
id

en
ce

 ra
te

 o
f n

ew
 c

as
es

 o
f w

or
k 

re
la

te
d 

ill 
he

al
th

 
To

 e
m

po
w

er
 l

oc
al

 p
eo

pl
e 

to
 h

av
e 

a 
gr

ea
te

r 
vo

ic
e 

an
d 

in
flu

en
ce

 o
ve

r 
lo

ca
l 

de
ci

si
on

 m
ak

in
g 

an
d 

th
e 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 

se
rv

ic
es

. 

 
P

er
ce

pt
io

n 
m

ea
su

re
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g,
 f

or
 e

xa
m

pl
e,

 c
om

m
un

ity
 c

oh
es

io
n,

 n
um

be
rs

 o
f 

ne
ig

hb
ou

rh
oo

d 
bo

di
es

 
et

c.
 

Th
is

 
ca

n 
be

 
di

sc
us

se
d 

du
rin

g 
ne

go
tia

tio
ns

 
an

d 
ad

di
tio

na
l g

ui
da

nc
e 

w
ill 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d.

 
 

Th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 f

ee
l 

th
at

 t
he

y 
ca

n 
in

flu
en

ce
 d

ec
is

io
ns

 a
ffe

ct
in

g 
th

ei
r 

lo
ca

l a
re

a.
 

71



 
60

 

 
N

um
be

r 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 f
ee

l 
th

at
 t

he
ir 

lo
ca

l 
ar

ea
 i

s 
a 

pl
ac

e 
w

he
re

 p
eo

pl
e 

fro
m

 
di

ffe
re

nt
 b

ac
kg

ro
un

ds
 c

an
 g

et
 o

n 
w

el
l t

og
et

he
r. 

 
Th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

en
ga

gi
ng

 i
n 

(d
ef

in
ed

) 
fo

rm
al

 v
ol

un
te

er
in

g 
(fo

r 
a 

sp
ec

ifi
c 

pe
rio

d)
 

 
Th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

re
po

rti
ng

 th
at

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
en

ga
ge

d 
in

 fo
rm

al
 v

ol
un

te
er

in
g 

fo
r 

an
 a

ve
ra

ge
 o

f a
t l

ea
st

 2
 h

ou
rs

 a
 w

ee
k 

ov
er

 th
e 

pr
ev

io
us

 y
ea

r. 
 

Th
e 

nu
m

be
r o

f p
eo

pl
e 

en
ga

gi
ng

 in
 (d

ef
in

ed
) v

ol
un

te
er

in
g 

ac
tiv

ity
. 

E
nr

ic
h 

in
di

vi
du

al
 

liv
es

, 
st

re
ng

th
en

 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
 

an
d 

im
pr

ov
e 

pl
ac

es
 

w
he

re
 p

eo
pl

e 
liv

e 
th

ro
ug

h 
cu

ltu
re

 a
nd

 
sp

or
t. 

 
Ta

ke
 u

p 
of

 c
ul

tu
ra

l a
nd

 s
po

rti
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
by

 p
eo

pl
e 

ag
ed

 1
6 

an
d 

ab
ov

e,
 in

 
pa

rti
cu

la
r f

ro
m

 p
rio

rit
y 

gr
ou

ps
 o

r n
ew

 u
se

rs
 

 
V

is
its

 b
y 

pr
io

rit
y 

gr
ou

ps
 t

o 
hi

st
or

ic
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t 
si

te
s,

 e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 f

ro
m

 e
th

ni
c 

m
in

or
ity

 a
nd

 s
oc

ia
lly

 d
ep

riv
ed

 g
ro

up
s.

 
 

V
is

its
 b

y 
ne

w
 u

se
rs

 to
 m

us
eu

m
s,

 e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 fr

om
 u

nd
er

-r
ep

re
se

nt
ed

 g
ro

up
s.

 
 

A
tte

nd
an

ce
 a

nd
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 th

e 
ar

ts
 b

y 
un

de
r-r

ep
re

se
nt

ed
 g

ro
up

s.
 

 
R

ig
ht

s 
of

 W
ay

 –
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 t
he

 c
ou

nt
ry

si
de

: 
to

 i
nc

re
as

e 
vi

si
to

r 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o 

th
e 

co
un

try
si

de
 (p

hy
si

ca
l a

ct
iv

ity
) a

nd
 im

pr
ov

e 
ru

ra
l b

us
in

es
s 

co
m

pe
tit

iv
en

es
s13

. 
 

M
ai

nt
ai

ni
ng

 th
e 

ch
ar

ac
te

r a
nd

 d
is

tin
ct

iv
en

es
s 

of
 lo

ca
l c

om
m

un
iti

es
 b

y 
re

du
ci

ng
 th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 li
st

ed
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 a
t r

is
k 

an
d 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
f c

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

ar
ea

s 
(B

V
21

9)
 

S
us

ta
in

ab
le

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 w
hi

ch
 d

el
iv

er
 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

lo
ca

lly
 

th
ro

ug
h:

  
i) 

R
ed

uc
in

g 
gr

ee
n 

ho
us

e 
ga

s 
em

is
si

on
s 

an
d 

m
an

ag
in

g 
im

pa
ct

s 
of

 
cl

im
at

e 
ch

an
ge

 
  

   
 

D
om

es
tic

 e
ne

rg
y 

us
e 

 
R

en
ew

ab
le

 e
le

ct
ric

ity
 g

en
er

at
ed

 /
 e

le
ct

ric
ity

 g
en

er
at

io
n 

(fr
om

 r
en

ew
ab

le
 a

nd
 n

on
 

re
ne

w
ab

le
 s

ou
rc

es
) 

 
Fu

el
 p

ov
er

ty
 

 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
13

 In
di

ca
to

rs
 b

y 
w

hi
ch

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 w
ill

 b
e 

m
ea

su
re

d 
ar

e:
 C

ha
ng

e 
in

 n
um

be
r 

of
 u

se
rs

 o
f t

he
 s

tra
te

gi
c 

fo
ot

pa
th

s 
an

d 
rig

ht
s 

of
 w

ay
; R

at
ea

bl
e 

va
lu

e 
ad

de
d 

to
 

ra
tin

g 
lis

ts
 d

ue
 to

 lo
ss

 o
f a

gr
ic

ul
tu

ra
l e

xe
m

pt
io

n 
on

 e
xi

st
in

g 
pr

op
er

ty
 (i

nc
lu

di
ng

 p
ro

pe
rty

 s
ub

di
vi

de
d)

; P
ro

po
rti

on
 o

f r
ur

al
 s

m
al

l a
nd

 m
ed

iu
m

 s
iz

ed
 e

nt
er

pr
is

es
 

w
ith

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t e

-c
om

m
er

ce
 c

ap
ab

ili
ty

; N
um

be
r o

f e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

of
 ru

ra
l s

m
al

l a
nd

 m
ed

iu
m

 s
iz

ed
 e

nt
er

pr
is

es
 a

cc
re

di
te

d 
un

de
r t

he
 Q

ua
lit

y 
E

dg
e 

P
ro

gr
am

m
e.

 

72



 
61

 

ii)
 C

le
an

er
 m

or
e 

ef
fic

ie
nt

 p
ro

du
ct

io
n 

/ 
pr

od
uc

ts
 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 
an

d 
sh

ift
s 

in
 

co
ns

um
er

 
/ 

ci
tiz

en
 

co
ns

um
pt

io
n 

pa
tte

rn
s 

th
ro

ug
h 

ch
oo

si
ng

 
lo

w
er

 
im

pa
ct

 g
oo

ds
 a

nd
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 
      iii)

 
P

ro
te

ct
in

g 
na

tu
ra

l 
re

so
ur

ce
s 

an
d 

en
ha

nc
in

g 
th

e 
lo

ca
l 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

an
d 

th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
’s

 e
nj

oy
m

en
t o

f i
t 

    

 
E

ne
rg

y 
ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

of
 h

ou
si

ng
 s

to
ck

 a
nd

 o
r 

op
er

at
io

na
l p

ro
pe

rty
.  

(O
fte

n 
th

ou
gh

 n
ot

 
ex

cl
us

iv
el

y 
m

ea
su

re
d 

by
 C

02
 re

du
ct

io
n.

)14
 

 
E

m
is

si
on

s 
by

 s
ec

to
r (

do
m

es
tic

, p
ub

lic
, t

ra
ns

po
rt,

 in
du

st
ry

 e
tc

) 
 

Tr
an

sp
or

t –
 m

od
al

 s
pl

it 
an

d 
tra

ve
l t

o 
w

or
k 

m
od

al
 s

pl
it 

 
W

at
er

 q
ua

lit
y 

 
 

B
us

in
es

se
s 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tin
g 

in
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

ta
l m

an
ag

em
en

t s
ys

te
m

s 
 

B
us

in
es

se
s 

pa
rti

ci
pa

tin
g 

in
 c

or
po

ra
te

 s
oc

ia
l r

es
po

ns
ib

ilit
y 

in
iti

at
iv

es
 

 
P

ro
po

rti
on

 / 
va

lu
e 

of
 s

pe
nd

 o
n 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t  

 
E

m
is

si
on

 o
f g

re
en

ho
us

e 
ga

se
s 

 
Lo

ca
l F

oo
d 

P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t: 
%

 o
f 

fo
od

 p
ro

du
ct

s 
us

ed
 w

ith
in

 t
he

 p
ub

lic
 s

ec
to

r 
be

in
g 

lo
ca

lly
 p

ro
du

ce
d 

an
d 

su
pp

lie
d 

 
P

rio
rit

y 
sp

ec
ie

s 
st

at
us

 o
r p

rio
rit

y 
ha

bi
ta

t s
ta

tu
s 

/ c
on

di
tio

n 
 

R
at

io
 o

f a
re

a 
of

 lo
ca

l n
at

ur
e 

re
se

rv
e 

to
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
 

Fa
rm

in
g 

an
d 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l 
st

ew
ar

ds
hi

p 
(e

.g
. 

lo
ca

l 
pa

rti
ci

pa
tio

n 
or

 c
ov

er
ag

e 
of

 
sc

he
m

es
) 

 
P

ub
lic

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 o

r c
on

di
tio

n 
of

 g
re

en
 s

pa
ce

s 
 

R
iv

er
 q

ua
lit

y 
 

E
m

is
si

on
s 

of
 a

ir 
po

llu
ta

nt
s 

 
D

w
el

lin
g 

de
ns

ity
 (n

ew
 h

ou
si

ng
) 

 
D

om
es

tic
 w

at
er

 u
se

 
 

R
ig

ht
s 

of
 W

ay
 –

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 t

he
 c

ou
nt

ry
si

de
: 

to
 i

nc
re

as
e 

vi
si

to
r 

ac
ce

ss
 t

o 
th

e 
co

un
try

si
de

 (p
hy

si
ca

l a
ct

iv
ity

) a
nd

 im
pr

ov
e 

ru
ra

l b
us

in
es

s 
co

m
pe

tit
iv

en
es

s15
. 

    
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

14
 M

ea
su

re
m

en
t o

f p
ro

gr
es

s 
ca

n 
be

 s
ho

w
n 

by
 a

 n
um

be
r o

f i
nd

ic
to

rs
, s

uc
h 

as
 a

n 
in

cr
ea

se
 in

 th
e 

S
A

P
 ra

tin
g,

 re
du

ce
d 

en
er

gy
 c

on
su

m
pt

io
n 

(o
ve

ra
ll 

kW
h 

or
 

re
la

te
d 

to
 fl

oo
r a

re
a 

kW
h/

M
2)

, r
ed

uc
ed

 e
m

is
si

on
s 

(c
ar

bo
n 

(C
)o

r c
ar

bo
n 

di
ox

id
e 

(C
O

2)
), 

en
er

gy
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 c

er
tif

ic
at

es
 w

he
n 

th
es

e 
be

co
m

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

af
te

r 
20

06
, e

tc
 –

 id
ea

lly
 th

e 
ob

je
ct

iv
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
to

 tr
y 

an
d 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
ev

er
yo

ne
 to

 u
se

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
in

di
ca

to
r. 

 It
 is

 th
en

 m
uc

h 
ea

si
er

 to
 c

om
pa

re
 th

e 
pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 o
f 

di
ffe

re
nt

 p
la

ns
.  

15
 In

di
ca

to
rs

 b
y 

w
hi

ch
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 w

ill
 b

e 
m

ea
su

re
d 

ar
e:

 C
ha

ng
e 

in
 n

um
be

r 
of

 u
se

rs
 o

f t
he

 s
tra

te
gi

c 
fo

ot
pa

th
s 

an
d 

rig
ht

s 
of

 w
ay

; R
at

ea
bl

e 
va

lu
e 

ad
de

d 
to

 
ra

tin
g 

lis
ts

 d
ue

 to
 lo

ss
 o

f a
gr

ic
ul

tu
ra

l e
xe

m
pt

io
n 

on
 e

xi
st

in
g 

pr
op

er
ty

 (i
nc

lu
di

ng
 p

ro
pe

rty
 s

ub
di

vi
de

d)
; P

ro
po

rti
on

 o
f r

ur
al

 s
m

al
l a

nd
 m

ed
iu

m
 s

iz
ed

 e
nt

er
pr

is
es

 
w

ith
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t e
-c

om
m

er
ce

 c
ap

ab
ili

ty
; N

um
be

r o
f e

m
pl

oy
ee

s 
of

 ru
ra

l s
m

al
l a

nd
 m

ed
iu

m
 s

iz
ed

 e
nt

er
pr

is
es

 a
cc

re
di

te
d 

un
de

r t
he

 Q
ua

lit
y 

E
dg

e 
P

ro
gr

am
m

e.
 

73



74



PILOT LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT: EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR 
HEREFORDSHIRE 
 

Herefordshire’s Journey to Prosperity 
Action to 2020 

 

1. PURPOSE 
 
This paper sets out the case for a Local Area Agreement for Herefordshire.  The 
paper has been prepared following discussions with Government Office for the West 
Midlands and has been developed with the full support of the Board of 
Herefordshire’s Local Strategic Partnership (The Herefordshire Partnership). 
 
The Herefordshire Partnership Board includes representatives of Herefordshire 
Council, Advantage West Midlands, West Mercia Constabulary, Chamber of 
Commerce, Herefordshire and Worcestershire, Business Link West Mercia, 
Herefordshire Primary Care Trust, Herefordshire and Worcestershire Learning and 
Skills Council, Herefordshire Association of Local Councils, Herefordshire Voluntary 
Sector Assembly and an observer from Government Office for the West Midlands. 
 
Letters of support from key partners are attached. 
 

2. VISION 
 
A Local Area Agreement would provide Herefordshire with a significantly enhanced 
opportunity to continue on its journey to prosperity.  The proposal is to deliver our 
shared fifteen year vision with local partners to tackle disadvantage and transform 
the economy of the County by 2020. 
 
The vision is focused on transforming the local economy, with Hereford City as the 
hub driving the regeneration of the whole County.  This reinforces the role identified 
for Hereford as a sub-regional employment and service centre in Regional Planning 
Guidance. 
 
Our Vision is that: 
 
Herefordshire is a place where people, business and an outstanding natural 
environment will together bring about sustainable prosperity and well-being 
for all. 
 
The diagram attached at Appendix 1 illustrates how this vision will be turned into 
reality using the Local Area Agreement as a focus for co-ordinated action. 
 
 
 
 

75



3. CONTEXT – THE NEED FOR ACTION 
 
Herefordshire is a rural County of some 176,900 people situated in a peripheral 
location on the edge of the West Midlands Region adjacent to the Welsh Border.  
The County is one of the most sparsely populated counties in England.  About one-
third of the population lives in Hereford City, a third in the market towns and a third in 
rural areas. 
 
Herefordshire is one of England’s 42 lagging rural areas as defined by DEFRA on 
the basis of a basket of socio-economic indicators.  The County’s rural regeneration 
needs are recognised by the European Commission and the UK Government, with 
much of the County having Objective 2 status.  The majority of the County also forms 
part of Advantage West Midlands Rural Regeneration Zone. 
 
The City of Hereford lies at the heart of the County with a population of 
approximately 60,000 people.  It performs the role of the main employment and 
service centre serving the County and is the main place which people look to for 
jobs, shopping, training etc.  The City includes the South Wye area, where some 
16,000 people live largely in former Council housing.  The South Wye area has been 
the subject of an SRB Programme since 1998, and has achieved significant success 
in attracting funding - drawing some £7.5 million investment to the area, which, 
alongside a successful Education Action Zone, has made a substantial difference to 
basic skill levels.  Despite some progress, there is clear evidence that South Wye 
continues to be an area of urban deprivation.  The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2004 
confirmed that five of the ten super output areas (layer one) that make up South Wye 
are within the 25% most deprived in the Country. 
 
The State of Herefordshire report provides a detailed analysis of the County’s 
position against a range of recognised indicators.  Please see 
www.herefordshirepartnership.com to view a full copy of the report. 
 
In summary, the headline issues which the County needs to address are: 
 

• An ageing population 
• Out-migration of young people 
• A low skills base 
• Low incomes 
• A vulnerable, low value-added industrial structure 
• Diversity – managing change in the cultural mix of the community 

 

4. ACTION PROPOSED 
 
In essence, the action proposed is to bring together existing regeneration 
programmes in Hereford City (linked to the Objective 2 spider - the geographic focus 
of this European Structural Funds programme in Herefordshire into a single 
transformational regeneration programme to ensure that Hereford is able to succeed 
as a major sub-regional employment, service and retail centre that will act as a focus 
for the long term regeneration of the whole County. 

76



 
The action will concentrate on prioritisation, partnership and pooling of budgets a 
single Hereford City programme based on delivering: 
 

• Higher skills 
• Better infrastructure 
• Higher paid jobs 

 
The concrete outcomes will be: 
 

• a vibrant and prosperous City centre 
• a successful and prosperous community in South Wye, including an 

unblocked Rotherwas Industrial Estate 
• the Herefordshire Learning Village 

 
These outcomes will in turn have a significant impact on rural Herefordshire including 
its market towns and will help to maintain balance in the County’s economy. 
 
This approach will deliver joined up action and ensure a step change in the City’s 
performance.  The joined-up approach will also ensure more efficient delivery of 
individual programmes consistent with the Government’s drive for efficiency.  A 
single programme will provide reduced management and monitoring costs and will 
ensure the opportunity for shared procurement, as well as providing the basis for 
linking activities in individual programmes to produce better overall results. 
 
If we don’t take action the unacceptable alternative is that Hereford and 
Herefordshire become a steadily declining backwater, robbed of vibrancy and 
dynamism, and so unable to make a full contribution to the life of the West Midlands 
Region. 
 

5. WHAT WILL BE ACHIEVED 
 
Targets will be set for the four key blocks set out below which the Government has 
identified as the focus for the second phase of Local Area Agreements: 
 

• Children and Young People 
• Safer and Stronger Communities 
• Healthier Communities and Older People 
• Economic Development and Enterprise 

 
Our agreement will negotiate local priorities and targets for each of these blocks 
within the context of the national picture.  The economic development block will be 
seen as the key driver and the following specific outcomes will have been achieved 
by 2020: 
 

• Income levels raised – reducing the gap between Herefordshire and West 
Midlands average by at least 50% 

• Skill levels raised – at least 10% more people at NVQ Level 3 and above  

77



 
• Targets will be negotiated for substantial gains in terms of health, safety and 

older people contributing to their communities, with more older people in the 
workforce as a result of having gained higher level skills. 

 
At the end of the Local Area Agreement Herefordshire will have: 
 

• A sustainable economy, with reduced reliance on outside intervention 
• A high-skilled more prosperous population. 
• A dynamic partnership leading a process of continual renewal on the journey 

to prosperity 

6. HOW HEREFORDSHIRE WILL DELIVER 
 
Governance 
See diagram setting out governance arrangements at Appendix 2. 
 
It is proposed that the Local Area Agreement will be managed by the Herefordshire 
Partnership Board as an integral part of the delivery of the reviewed Herefordshire 
Plan (scheduled for January 2006).  Strategic decisions, performance management 
and reporting arrangements, will be overseen by the Board. 
 
The day to day implementation and co-ordination of the agreement will be managed 
by a dedicated Executive Steering Group of the main partners.  This will form part of 
its wider remit for the delivery of the Herefordshire Plan and LPSA 2G. 
 
Strong linkages will be established with the existing local delivery partnerships in 
Hereford and it is proposed that a local co-ordinating group is established at which 
the Chairs of the existing delivery partnerships are brought together to review 
progress and act as a standing consultation mechanism, as well as to ensure that 
implementation is devolved to the local community wherever that’s the best way to 
get results. 
 
The Council, will be responsible for leading the Partnership in the delivery of the 
Local Area Agreement.  It will be the accountable body for pooled and dedicated 
funding.  This will be buttressed by clear agreed accountabilities of individual 
partners for their respective contributions. 
 
Community consultation 
 
Community consultation will be undertaken on the basis of the consultation principles 
set out in the Council’s Community Involvement Strategy, a copy of which is 
attached for information at Appendix 3. 
 
Delivery 
The Local Area Agreement will be delivered by pooling a range of mainstream and 
external funding programmes into a single Hereford City programme which will be 
directed at addressing the key priorities identified in the agreement.  It is estimated 
that expenditure in excess of £100 million will be involved.  Much of this will need to 
be committed by the Council and its partners but there will also be a requirement for 

78



substantial match funding from outside sources such as Advantage West Midlands, 
Government and the European Union. 
 
This programme will be delivered by the creation of a dedicated team within 
Herefordshire Council’s Social and Economic Regeneration Service working closely 
with key officers from a range of other Council services, and with nominated staff 
from other partners in the Local Strategic Partnership. 
 

7. STRONG TRACK RECORD 
 
Partnership Achievements 
Herefordshire has a strong track record of effective partnerships and can also 
demonstrate a track record of piloting new Government initiatives. 
 
As one of twenty-two New Commitment to Regeneration Pathfinder Authorities, 
Herefordshire was one of the first areas in the Country to establish a Local Strategic 
Partnership and to complete a Community Plan.  The Herefordshire Partnership and 
Herefordshire Plan have been at the forefront of LSP and Community Planning 
development and continue to be held up nationally and regionally as examples of 
good practice. 
 
The Partnership continues to mature.  Improvements are being made to its 
Performance Management framework, so that it focuses on key performance 
indicators, targets and accountabilities for delivery.  The individual partners have a 
strong track record of quality service delivery.  Herefordshire Council is a ‘Good’ 
authority and the Primary Care Trust, West Mercia Constabulary, and Learning and 
Skills Council are also high performers. 
 
The Partnership has been in operation since 1998 and has effectively overseen the 
delivery of the Herefordshire Plan.  Key achievements include: 
 

• Securing Rural Regeneration Zone and Objective 2 status 
• Securing and delivering a successful Education Action Zone and South Wye 

SRB Programme 
• Delivering Lifelong Learning activity linked to voluntary sector providers 
• Cultural Pathfinder 
• Putting Sustainability at the heart of activity in a ground breaking partnership 

with the Bulmer Foundation and Forum for the Future 
• Crisis Management – successfully dealing with Foot and Mouth and Fuel 

crisis 
• Successful LPSA leading to negotiations on LPSA 2 
• Developing a dynamic partnership owned Economic Development Strategy 
• A successful Sure Start initiative 

 
The partnership has made significant progress against some of the key indicators in 
the State of Herefordshire report.  For example between 2000-01 and 2003-04 
Herefordshire’s employment rate increased from 77.9% to 78.6% significantly 
outperforming the West Midlands and Great Britain.  Another key area where there 

79



has been some success has been the increase in the percentage of working age 
adults qualified to at least NVQ Levels 2 and 3, further work is however required to 
improve percentage of working age adults qualified to NVQ Level 4 which will be a 
key driver for the local economy. 
 
Existing Activity 
There is an existing focus on a number of closely linked individual priorities which 
support Hereford City’s role as the hub driving the regeneration of the County. 
 
The key priority projects and programmes each with their individual management 
and funding arrangements include: 
 

• The South Wye SRB Programme 
• Edgar Street Grid redevelopment 
• Hereford City Centre Regeneration 
• Rotherwas Access Road 
• Herefordshire In Touch SRB Programme 
• Herefordshire Learning Village 

 
Contact point: Geoff Hughes, Head of Service (Policy and Community), Policy and 
Community, Herefordshire Council, PO Box 4, Plough Lane, Hereford.   HR4 0XH 
Tel: 01432 260695 email: ghughes@herefordshire.gov.uk 
 

80



 
A

pp
en

di
x 

1 
 

H
ER

EF
O

R
D

SH
IR

E 
LO

C
A

L 
A

R
EA

 A
G

R
EE

M
EN

T 
  20

05
 

20
20

 
                      Le

ad
er

sh
ip

 
Vi

si
on

 
A

gr
ee

m
en

t 
St

ra
te

gy
 

O
ut

co
m

es
 

  

H
er

ef
or

ds
hi

re
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 

Herefordshire Plan 
A

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

 
ec

on
om

y,
 w

ith
 

re
du

ce
d 

re
lia

nc
e 

on
 

ou
ts

id
e 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

A
 h

ig
h-

sk
ille

d 
m

or
e 

pr
os

pe
ro

us
 

po
pu

la
tio

n 

 
Local Public Service Agreement 

(LPSA 2) 

A
 d

yn
am

ic
 

pa
rtn

er
sh

ip
 

le
ad

in
g 

a 
pr

oc
es

s 
of

 
co

nt
in

ua
l 

re
ne

w
al

 

Sk
ills

In
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e

Jo
bs

 

Herefordshire’s Economic Vision 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Y

ou
ng

 
Pe

op
le

 

S
af

e 
an

d 
S

tro
ng

 
C

om
m

un
iti

es

E
co

no
m

ic
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t

H
ea

lth
ie

r 
C

om
m

un
iti

es
 

an
d 

O
ld

er
 

Pe
op

le

81



Appendix 2 
 

HEREFORDSHIRE LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT 
 

Proposed Governance Arrangements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Government 
Office for the 

West Midlands 

Herefordshire Partnership 
Board 

Local Delivery Groups 
Chairs Meeting 

Hereford 
City 

Partnership 

South Wye 
Partnership

Edgar Street 
Grid 

Regeneration 
Company 

Community 
and 

Voluntary 
Sector 

Groups etc

Executive 
Steering 
Group 

Market 
Towns 

Partnership 

82



 

Appendix 3 

Consultation Principles 

Opinion should be informed  

Consultation will aim to seek informed public opinion and not just instant reaction. 
Whenever possible, the council's communication mechanisms will be used alongside 
consultation to inform and stimulate public interest, particularly in relation to major 
strategic and countywide issues. 

Decisions should be based on evidence  

The council will adopt clear processes of consultation that, wherever possible, 
produce results that are measurable and can be evaluated objectively. 

Purpose should be clear  

Any consultation will contain a clear statement describing why it is being carried out 
and how the results will be used.  The way the consultation links to the council's 
wider corporate aims, work programmes and statutory policy framework will also be 
described. 

Consultation should be well planned and timely  

Consultees will be given adequate time to prepare their response.  It is recognised 
that the length of time will vary depending on the time of year and the level of 
response that is being sought.  Sufficient time will be allowed for the results of 
consultation to be collated, analysed and considered, so that the results of 
consultation feed directly into the decision making process. 

Consultation should be inclusive  

Consultation will aim to be inclusive.  To achieve this, the council will give particular 
consideration to the needs of people with impaired sight or hearing or who have 
learning difficulties; people whose first language is not English or who cannot read at 
all and people who might have problems with physical access such as people in 
wheelchairs and people with pushchairs.  In addition, the council will take steps to 
ensure that the views of younger people, older people, people from ethnic minority 
communities and others whose views are frequently excluded or overlooked, are 
actively sought as part of consultation that is inclusive and representative of the 
community as a whole. 

Methods should be appropriate and well-managed  

The council will use a wide range of public consultation methods.  They will be used 
appropriately, reflecting the strengths and weaknesses of each method and will be 

83



managed with a clear understanding of the particular skills, knowledge and 
resources that consultation requires. 

Results should be acknowledged and fully considered  

The full range of views expressed during consultation will be acknowledged and 
attention drawn to areas of agreement and disagreement.  The results of public 
consultation will be weighed carefully together with other evidence and 
considerations. 

Accessible feedback should be given  

Accessible feedback will be provided both on the results of consultation and on how 
they have been used, in order to encourage greater public participation in the future. 

Effectiveness should be evaluated  

The effectiveness of major public consultation will be evaluated and the results 
shared to encourage broader lessons to be learned.  Evaluation will consider not 
only the number of responses received but also the quality, cost and timeliness of 
the consultation and the overall usefulness of the results in helping to inform 
decisions. 
 

84


